SOUTH COAST BRITISH COLUMBIA TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY

2009 STATUTORY ANNUAL REPORT
The South Coast British Columbia Transportation Authority (SCBCTA) is required to provide an annual report and
audited financial statements to the Mayors’ Council on Regional Transportation and the Regional Transportation
Commissioner. This report fulfills the reporting obligation to provide:

A.

A summary of operations during the year with comparison to the strategic transportation plan and the
annual transportation plan

B.

The audited financial statements for the year

C.

A summary of the nature of complaints received in the year and actions taken in response to those
complaints

D.

A summary of the results of the customer satisfaction survey process

E.

Amendments to the articles of the authority, and

F.

The date, type and outcome of meetings of the board held during the year.

This report should be read in conjunction with the 2009 Annual Report, in order to get a full understanding of
the organization and its financial and operational performance. The 2009 Annual Report will be presented at
the May 11th Annual General Meeting and will be available on the company website.
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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Context
In 2007, the Province of British Columbia amended the Greater Vancouver Transportation Authority Act that
involved significant changes to TransLink’s planning, funding and governance framework. The amendments
included the creation of new annual 10‐year strategic plans commencing in 2009.
TransLink’s inaugural 10‐year plan, the 2009 10‐Year Plan, is a Base Plan under the legislative requirements of the
South Coast British Columbia Transportation Authority Act. As such, the 2009 10‐Year Plan is based on existing
revenue sources and does not include any expansion beyond 2011. The plan provided for expansion over the 2009‐
2010 period with further expansion dependent on future approval of one or more supplemental plans. To meet
the legislative parameters of a fully‐funded Base Plan, a service reduction is assumed for 2012 and beyond.
2009 10‐Year Plan Initiatives
The 2009 10‐Year Plan included the following major initiatives:
• Completion and opening of the Golden Ears Bridge and Canada Line
• Complete Major Road Network projects and provide funding for future projects
• Expo Line station improvements
• Addition of 48 new SkyTrain vehicles and a third SeaBus
• Improve Access Transit service
• Increase bus service
• Obtain approval of a 2010 Supplement, and
• Provide funding for the Evergreen Line
Plan Successes
TransLink was successful in implementing many of the initiatives noted in the 2009 10‐Year Plan. A major
milestone was achieved with the approval of the 2010 10‐Year Plan, with the $130 million revenue supplement
being the largest single funding increase in TransLink’s history. The Golden Ears Bridge and the Canada Line
opened in mid‐2009, ahead of schedule. The Coast Meridian Overpass project was nearly complete by the end of
the year and the Fraser Highway widening project continued. All of the new SkyTrain vehicles were delivered by
the end of the year and the new SeaBus was placed in service. Broadway Station was upgraded and other stations
are in various design stages. Improvements were made to Access Transit trip booking and dispatching. Transit
service hours have increased by 6% over 2008.
On January 18, 2009 a fire destroyed the timber spans on the south end of the Patullo Bridge, resulting in complete
closure to traffic. Emergency repairs were completed in one week, three weeks ahead of the initial estimate.
Another notable achievement was the completion of the preparation necessary to execute our role as the public
transportation provider for the Vancouver 2010 Olympics. An Olympic operations plan was developed to provide
the additional services required to transport thousands of Olympic spectators, workers and volunteers. This
involved staff from TransLink, BC Rapid Transit and the Coast Mountain Bus Company who were supported by
senior level operations managers from across the organization. As well over 300 employees were trained as transit
hosts and the TravelSmart campaign provided local commuters and businesses with travel options that would keep
commuters, customers and goods moving during the Games.
Plan Challenges
During 2009 it became apparent that TransLink was being impacted by the fallout from the 2008 global economic
crisis. Declining revenues and funding issues identified during the development of the 2010 10‐Year Plan(s) led to
difficult but necessary decisions around the level of service expansion and capital investment that could be
afforded. Bus service expansion planned for late 2009 has been deferred and there are not sufficient revenues in
the 2010 10‐Year Plan to fund TransLink’s share of Evergreen Line capital costs. Buses that were to be allocated for
expansion provided enhanced Olympic service and will be used as replacement vehicles.
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In the latter part of 2009 a labour dispute between TransLink’s HandyDART service contractor and their unionized
employees resulted in a 10 week service disruption. The reduction of service to essential levels impacted
TransLink’s most vulnerable customers, and considerable effort was made by all parties to resolve this dispute. A
settlement has been achieved and full service was restored in early 2010.
Going Forward
TransLink will continue to focus on cost management and the delivery of core services. In addition to deferring
service expansion, there is an organization‐wide freeze on non‐service related hiring, and training, travel and other
administrative expenditures have been reduced; capital spending not essential to the delivery of service was
deferred; and supplier payment terms were amended to standard business practices. The 2010 budget process
included $30 million reduction target, which will further increase the cumulative surplus from what the 2010 10‐
Year Plan anticipated.
The newly appointed Chief Executive Officer will lead the implementation of the organizational restructuring and
realignment process that was initiated early in 2009. The change process will align the organization under one
single mission and vision.
Conclusion
In summary, TransLink has had notable successes despite a challenging economic environment. It secured
sufficient funding to maintain existing transit service levels, it dealt quickly with eroding financial performance and
delivered significant service expansion in both transit and roads and bridges.
This report should be read in conjunction with the 2009 Annual Report, in order to get a full understanding of the
organization and its financial and operational performance. The 2009 Annual Report will be presented at the May
11th Annual General Meeting and will be available on the company website.
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OPERATIONS SUMMARY

1.

Transportation Services Provided

The table below provides a summary of services provided, services consumed and operating cost metrics for 2009
compared to the 2009 10‐Year Transportation and Financial Plan.
2009

2009 Fav. / (Unfav.)

10‐Year
Transportation
Actual
Plan
Scheduled Transit Service
Service hours (thousands)
Revenue passengers (thousands)
Revenue passengers per capita *
Bus ‐ Average operating cost per service hour
Rail ‐ Average operating cost per vehicle kilometer

5,954
187,912

5,991

%

Change

81.0
$110.74
$2.71

188,900
81.5
$118.68
$2.88

(37)
(988)
(0.4)
$7.94
$0.17

‐0.6%
‐0.5%
‐0.5%
6.7%
5.9%

Access Transit Service **
Service hours (thousands)
Revenue passengers (thousands)
Operating cost per revenue passenger

515
1,217
$33.20

688
1,700
$29.13

(173)
(483)
($4.07)

‐25.1%
‐28.4%
‐14.0%

AirCare
Number of inspections (thousands)
Operating cost per vehicle inspection

473
$38.50

475
$39.94

(2)
$1.44

‐0.4%
3.6%

* Based on Lower Mainland population estimate (from MetroVancouver website) for 2009 of 2,318,526
** Access Transit services were subject to a work stoppage from October 25, 2009 to January 11, 2010

Observations
•
•
•
•
•

•

Service hours are lower than plan due to new SkyTrain vehicles arriving later than the plan assumed.
Ridership is .5% below plan, reflecting the weakened economy and lower fuel prices.
Average operating cost per service hour for bus service is lower than plan due to lower fuel prices and the
implementation of cost containment initiatives.
Average operating cost per vehicle kilometer for the rail division is lower due to the delay in delivery of
new MK II vehicles, and the implementation of cost containment initiatives.
Access Transit service hours and passengers are lower than planned. The 3.5‐month labour dispute
resulted in 100,000 fewer hours, the planned 50,000 hour service expansion was not implemented and a
change in service hour calculation methodology (from operator time to gate‐to‐gate) had a 20,000 hour
impact.
Fixed costs continued to be incurred during the labour dispute, thereby increasing cost/passenger.
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2009 Transportation and Financial Plan Status Report

Plan Context
Page #
Item(s) Noted
2
TransLink will work with the public,
stakeholders and all levels of
government to identify the
investments to achieve the region's
objectives.

2

3

If the consultation process receives
strong resistance to new revenue
measures, cost reductions will need
to be implemented that would
impact all program areas.
2009 10‐Year Plan is the foundation
for a sustainable region as described
in the Transport 2040 long‐term
strategy and to meet the objectives
of the Provincial Transit Plan.

3

This plan will also support the
proposed Regional Growth Strategy.

6

A key focus is on ensuring the
appropriate land use patterns
support the transportation system
that enables people to walk, bike and
take transit.

Transit System
Page #
Item(s) Noted
9
Additional 310,000 annual hours of
conventional and community shuttle
bus service.

9

Additional 1,000 hours of SeaBus
service.

9

Additional 53,000 hours of SkyTrain
service.

9

Additional 58,000 hours of Custom
Transit service.

Comments
TransLink worked with the public, stakeholders and all levels of
government to identify the investments to achieve the region's
objectives, including developing the On Track to a Sustainable Region
Plan, rapid transit studies and other initiatives. Consultation was
conducted through various in‐person and online methods in compliance
with the SCBCTA Act. The process resulted in the approval of the 2010
Funding Stabilization Plan.
Overall, the public and stakeholders were supportive of the new revenue
measures proposed and adopted as part of the 2010 10‐Year Plan and
Supplement. Although the Funding Stabilization Plan does not include
the revenue mechanisms to fund major capital expansion or upgrades,
sufficient revenues were secured to avoid significant cuts.
The annual 10‐year plans are the key mechanisms for achieving the goals
and implementing the strategies of Transport 2040, the long‐term
strategy for the regional transportation system, adopted in 2008 and
based on the principles of sustainability. The approved 2010 Funding
Stabilization Plan provides sufficient funding to keep TransLink whole in
the near term.
In 2009, TransLink worked closely with Metro Vancouver and its partners
to further develop a new Regional Growth Strategy for Metro Vancouver,
and to help ensure the region pursues a coordinated approach to land
use and transportation planning. TransLink seeks alignment between
Transport 2040 and the draft Regional Growth Strategy (anticipated to
be adopted in 2010), and this is supported by Metro Vancouver.
TransLink is working closely with Metro Vancouver and its partners to
finalize the growth management vision for Metro Vancouver, and to help
ensure the region pursues a coordinated approach to land use and
transportation planning.

Comments
The noted expansion hours were based on a draft high‐level service plan
prepared early in 2008. In fall 2008 Coast Mountain Bus Company
(CMBC), under TransLink’s direction, developed a detailed service plan
that called for 340,000 hours of expansion over the 2009‐2010 period
(140,000 hours in 2009 and 200,000 hours in 2010). Specific to 2009,
92,000 hours (66%) of the planned expansion was delivered. Funding
uncertainties led to the difficult decision to not implement the service
expansion planned for the latter part of the year.
SeaBus service was not expanded due to the financial constraints of the
2010 Funding Stabilization Plan. The purchased, third SeaBus is operating
as a replacement vessel.
An additional 37,400 hours of SkyTrain service were added in 2009. This
amount was less than planned as the first stage of new train car
deliveries arrived later than expected.
Service hours are 173,000 lower than assumed in the 2009 10‐Year Plan.
A 3.5 month labour dispute resulted in 100,000 fewer hours, the planned
50,000 hour service expansion was not implemented and a change in
service hour calculation methodology had a 20,000 hour impact.

Page 6 of 96

South Coast British Columbia Transportation Authority ‐ 2009 Statutory Annual Report

Developing Area Plans
Page
#
Item(s) Noted
10
Plan development for the industrial and
waterfront areas in East Fraser Lands
and Big Bend areas of Vancouver and
Burnaby.

10

11

Conventional Transit ridership forecast
to increase by 12 million passengers in
2009.
Updates for North Shore, Richmond
and Sea Island.

Rapid Transit
Page
#
Item(s) Noted
12
Addition of 34 new SkyTrain cars in
2009 and a further 14 cars in 2010.

12

March, 2010

Comments
Plans will not proceed for Big Bend and have been delayed for the East
Fraser Lands. Land purchased at Big Bend has been declared surplus and
is awaiting Commissioner approval for sale. The East Fraser lands’ actual
development area has changed from the City of Vancouver's original
plan, and will therefore require additional time prior to being ready for
sub‐area plan consideration.
Conventional Transit ridership increased by 10 million passengers in
2009. Reduced fuel prices and economic conditions suppressed the
demand for transportation in general.
TransLink is reviewing the broader Area Transit Plan process to
determine the most effective approach and timelines for undertaking
area plans, and what additional post‐plan monitoring processes should
be implemented. The Richmond and Sea Island Area Transit Plans have
not been initiated, as the Canada Line has created major changes to the
area’s transit network, which now needs time for new travel patterns to
become established. The North Shore Area Transit Plan process is
anticipated to commence in 2010.

Comments
All 48 new SkyTrain cars were delivered between March and December
2009, with 42 in passenger service by December 31 and the remaining six
cars (three pairs) entering service during the first three weeks of January
2010. The project is on schedule and within budget.

12

To provide more capacity, trains will be
longer on the Expo Line.
The older Mark I (MK I) SkyTrain
vehicles will be refurbished to extend
their lifespan.

Expo Line operating changes were implemented in 2009 to provide for
longer trains.
The plan to refurbish the older MK I SkyTrain vehicles is under review
and is being compared with the alternative of replacement with a smaller
number of MK II cars.

12

Opening of Canada Line Fall/09.

12

Trains between Waterfront and
Bridgeport at 3.75 minute intervals;
trains will alternate between Richmond
and the airport terminal for service
every 7.5 minutes.

12

Funding for the Evergreen Line.

The Canada Line achieved Service Commencement on August 11, 2009,
more than three months ahead of the scheduled date, and opened to the
public on August 17. The bike and pedestrian bridge opened on August
14.
The Canada Line trains operate at 3.75‐minute headways from
downtown Vancouver to Bridgeport and at 7.5‐minute headways on the
two legs from Bridgeport to Richmond and YVR. The headways will
change to 3.2 minutes and 6.3 minutes respectively after two years. Full
bus integration commenced as scheduled on September 7, 2009. The line
will be operated and maintained by the concessionaire, InTransit BC, for
30 years.
The Evergreen Line Project is being delivered by the Ministry of
Transportation and Infrastructure (MoTI). TransLink is providing technical
support for consideration of the project. Under the terms of a
memorandum of understanding between MoTI and TransLink, TransLink
is providing $16 million towards the project development phase (1/3
contribution). The provincial and federal governments have committed
approximately $400 million each towards the capital cost of the project.
TransLink’s equivalent share is not included in TransLink’s 2010 10‐Year
Plan.
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12

Construction of the 11‐kilometre ALRT
Evergreen Line is scheduled to
commence in 2010, with service
planned for 2014.

The 2010 provincial budget presented on March 2, 2010 indicates that
construction will commence in 2011. The procurement for the delivery of
the 11‐kilometre project has not yet been initiated by the Evergreen Line
Project office.

13

A Strategic Network Review is being
undertaken to ensure the logical
sequencing and phasing of
unprecedented rapid transit expansion
over the next 10 years.

The Rapid Transit Strategic Network Review was initiated in the spring of
2009 and will be completed by the summer of 2010. Building on rapid
transit expansion identified in past plans, the study is developing the
planning tools needed to determine future rapid transit expansion needs
and ensure logical sequencing and phasing.

13

A rapid transit study of alignment,
technology and phasing alternatives
will be completed in 2009
(Broadway/Commercial Drive stations
link with Central Broadway business
district and the University of British
Columbia (UBC))

13

Alignment and technology for bus rapid
transit and rail transit will be
determined in 2009 regarding Surrey
Rapid Transit Study.

The UBC Line Rapid Transit Study was initiated in the spring of 2009 to
evaluate rapid transit technology and alignment alternatives between
Commercial Drive and UBC in order to arrive at a preferred alternative.
The technologies under consideration include bus rapid transit (BRT),
light rail transit (LRT) and rail rapid transit (RRT). By the spring of 2010, a
shortlist of alternatives will be identified and will undergo a more
detailed multiple account evaluation. The study will be completed and a
preferred alternative identified in early 2011.
The Surrey Rapid Transit Study was initiated in 2009 to consider rapid
transit technology and alignment alternatives for several corridors in
Surrey. The technologies under consideration include BRT, LRT and RRT.
By the summer of 2010, a shortlist of alternatives will be identified and
will undergo a more detailed multiple account evaluation. The study will
be completed and a preferred alternative identified in early 2011.

13

A study will continue in 2009 on bus
rapid transit service on 41st (between
Joyce Station and UBC), and Hasting St.
(between downtown Vancouver and
Simon Fraser University (SFU)).
Expo Line Upgrade Strategy.

13

13

13

13

14

Work was completed on a request for proposals for an urban BRT study,
but was put on hold due to TransLink's initiation of the higher‐level Rapid
Transit Strategic Network Review. Once this review is complete, the
urban BRT study can once again be initiated.
In 2009, a study was initiated to determine the long‐term capacity needs
of the Expo Line and to identify a strategy for meeting those needs,
including upgrades to fleet, power and stations. The study will be
completed in early 2010.

Broadway and Commercial Drive
stations: Building on the Transit Village
Plan developed under the Urban
Transportation Showcase Program,
construction of the first of two phases
will be completed in 2009, including
improvements to capacity, passenger
environment and circulation.
Design for Phase II of the Broadway
and Commercial Drive stations project,
which includes major capacity upgrades
will continue in 2009.

Phase 1 of the Broadway station upgrade, including improvements to
capacity, passenger environment and circulation, was completed in
September 2009 on time and under budget.

Improvements to Main Street station
accesses and improved connections
between SkyTrain and buses.
Scoping and development of the
Station Upgrade Program will continue
in 2009 and potential funding from the
provincial government will be
identified.

Detailed design for Main station was completed in 2009 and the station
is now ready for a significant upgrade, pending funding availability.

In 2009, capacity and flow analyses were undertaken for Broadway
Station. A report providing design direction for concept development will
be completed in early 2010.

In 2009, stations were prioritized and design work was undertaken at six
priority stations: Metrotown, Main, Surrey Central, Waterfront, Scott
Road and New Westminster. Upgrades were included in the maintenance
and upgrade component of TransLink’s On Track to a Sustainable Region
Plan but are not included in the 2010 10‐Year Plan.
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14

Station upgrades as follows:
Metrotown, in 2009 detailed design
will be proposed for major upgrade;
Surrey Central, a more urban street
network that will increase access to
Surrey City Centre; Waterfront, a
concept plan is being developed to
create a multi‐modal transportation
facility.

Terms of reference were prepared for the Metrotown Station upgrade in
2009 and implementation is ready to proceed pending funding
availability. Further steps were taken towards realizing the Surrey Central
Transit Village Plan in 2009 with planning for new road connections and
transit service occurring as part of City of Surrey's plans to relocate City
Hall to the City Centre. In 2009, concept planning was completed for
Waterfront Station that identified circulation and capacity upgrades.
Detailed design for these improvements will occur as part of the fare
gates design work starting in 2010.

Canada Line bus loops ‐ the Brighouse
bus loop remains to be completed.

Finalization of property issues is pending. The project will be resubmitted
once the property issues have been resolved.

Bus and SeaBus
Page #
Item(s) Noted
14
Over 2009‐2010, an additional 157
expansion buses will be introduced
(132 conventional and 25 HandyDart).

14,15

15

15

15,16

16
16
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TransLink's Emissions Policy, adopted
in 2007, reflects a commitment to
reduce emissions through the
following initiatives; purchase buses
that exceed emissions standards,
retrofit older diesel buses with new
emission control technologies, deploy
diesel‐electric hybrid buses, move
toward cleaner fuels, use fuel‐efficient
buses and reduced idling.
New service to connect Langley and
Maple Ridge (across the new Golden
Ears Bridge).
Additional service hours will be
allocated to the frequent transit
network (FTN). The arrival of
additional articulated trolley and
hybrid buses in 2009 will provide a
higher level of reliability and capacity.
Purchase of new mini‐buses will allow
for service expansion on Community
Shuttle service in Richmond, North
Shore and South of Fraser.

Integration of services along the new
Canada Line.
Implement 1st phase of expanded
regional NightBus network.

Comments
The detailed 2009‐2010 service plan developed by CMBC called for 109
peak period conventional buses (69 in 2009 and 40 in 2010). Actual
service expansion in 2009 did not require any additional peak period
vehicles, as much of it was directed to off‐peak service and planned
December expansion was not implemented. The planned 25 vehicle
HandyDart vehicle expansion did not occur with the vehicles being
allocated as 2010 replacements.
New vehicles not allocated to 2009 expansion were used to meet
TransLink’s Olympic commitment, and subsequently will be used as early
replacement for existing fleet vehicles at the end of their service lives.
These older fleet vehicles will be scrapped or sold depending on market
value.
An additional 34 articulated trolley buses were procured and entered
revenue service in December 2009. These trolleys have 96% lower
greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions compared to comparable diesel or
compressed natural gas buses. The 180 diesel‐electric hybrids procured
in 2009 are achieving 22% lower fuel consumption and GHG emissions
compared to standard diesel buses. The third SeaBus is operating with an
18% reduction in fuel consumption and GHG emissions compared to the
two existing Sea Buses.

This new service was implemented as planned, beginning in June 2009.

Additional hours were not allocated to the FTN in 2009 as the
development of an official FTN policy was instead initiated. Similar to
other service expansion, further FTN expansion is dependent on funding
availability. Articulated trolley and hybrid buses were procured as
planned.
24 new Community Shuttle vehicles were procured in 2009, however due
to funding uncertainties, most 2009 expansion service was not
implemented. These vehicles will be used as early replacements for
existing fleet vehicles that are reaching the end of their service lives.
Some limited Community Shuttle service expansion was implemented in
Richmond associated with the Canada Line integration and bus savings.
The Canada Line Bus Integration Plan was implemented in early
September shortly following the opening of the Canada Line.
NightBus was not expanded in 2009 due to the funding uncertainties.
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Land was acquired in Richmond for a new Transit Operations Centre.
Conceptual design work was initiated to develop the site plan and aid in
the rezoning of the property. The 2011 opening has been deferred and
construction will only occur with the approval of an expansion
supplemental plan.
Preliminary design was completed on the Maintenance and
Transportation Training Centre in Maple Ridge in 2009. An alternate site
study was initiated and completed in late 2009. The detailed design
phase was put on hold until the location of the facility is finalized. The
construction phase will only occur with the approval of an expansion
supplemental plan.
25 expansion vehicles were procured but are being reserved for 2010
replacement vehicles.

16

TransLink will acquire land and build a
new Transit Operations Centre
planned for 2011.

16

Design is underway for the
Maintenance and Transportation
Training Centre that is slated to open
in 2011.

17

In 2009, the Custom Transit fleet will
be expanded by 25 vehicles.

17

Addition of third SeaBus.

The third SeaBus was delivered in early October 2009, and entered
revenue service on December 23, 2009. Consistent with the 2010 10‐Year
Plan, the new vessel is a replacement vessel.

17

Construction may be completed in
2009 for the Lonsdale Quay SeaBus
facility and adjacent bus exchange to
improve connections and passenger
environment in the bus exchange
area.

18

In support of the FTN, initiatives are
underway to improve the following
facilities: Burnaby Mountain, urban
design and transit plan for transit hub;
UBC, intermodal hub; Semiahmoo,
transit exchange; Newton Exchange,
transit exchange concept plan;
Steveston, transit exchange; Capilano
College, transit exchange; Guildford
exchange, expansion

Important passenger facility upgrades, including lighting, were
implemented in 2009 in partnership with the City of North Vancouver
and owners in order to prepare Lonsdale for its role as an important
Olympic transportation node. Preliminary design for the bus exchange
was completed in 2009. Detailed design for further improvements will be
undertaken as part of a broader station area planning and design process
in 2010.
Capilano University ‐ Improvements were implemented for a new
interim transit exchange facility.
Burnaby Mountain ‐ TransLink partnered with SFU and the SFU
Community Trust to complete an Urban Design and Transit Plan for
Burnaby Mountain. Implementation of the plan depends on ongoing
development of the Community Trust lands and the availability of
funding from both SFU and TransLink.
Newton ‐ TransLink partnered with the City of Surrey to complete a
Town Centre Plan and Transit Exchange Plan. Phase 2 of the project,
involving a detailed implementation plan is currently underway and will
be completed in 2010. Construction of the new transit exchange depends
on the development schedule of civic facilities and funding availability.
Guildford ‐ Expanding Guildford Exchange requires use of some
neighbouring land. As the adjacent mall considers redevelopment
opportunities over the next 5‐10 years, TransLink will work with the City
of Surrey to explore possibilities for building a new exchange.
Semiahmoo ‐ TransLink completed a preliminary design for a new bus
layover facility and on‐street exchange in conjunction with
redevelopment plans for Semiahmoo Mall. Construction of the new
exchange and layover will occur in tandem with mall redevelopment.
UBC ‐ As the previously agreed to exchange design has since been
deemed cost prohibitive, TransLink and UBC have initiated a new process
to reconsider design options for an intermodal hub at UBC. Agreement
on a new conceptual design is anticipated by 2011.
Steveston Exchange ‐ Currently, staff needs to assemble long term
requirements for the exchange. Once long term requirements are
established, Steveston Harbour Board will be approached. In the
meantime, other possible sites in close proximity are being looked at.
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18

Improve the maintenance and office
facilities associated with the
HandyDART system.

In 2009, Access Transit centralized the HandyDART services of call taking,
trip booking, scheduling and dispatch into a new central office. This
provides clients with one‐number calling for all HandyDART and
HandyCard services, including registration. Vehicle maintenance is
improved by establishing a new maintenance centre, located in New
Westminster. This centre provides for the maintenance and repair of all
vehicles that operate north of the Fraser River. The centre is operated by
MVT.

18

The goal is to increase the availability
of HandyDART service for short notice
trips (24 hours or less booking).

Effective January 1 2009, HandyDART clients are able to book guaranteed
trips with shorter notice to the contractor. Trips are guaranteed if they
are placed by noon of the day before travel. Previously, this request
typically needed two days in advance of travel. Also, dependant on the
availability of resources, clients may book standby on the day of travel
and up to two‐hours in advance of the trip.

18

Beginning in 2009, the number of
HandyDART service areas will be
consolidated from eight to three, to
reduce passenger difficulties with
cross‐boundary trips.

Effective January 1, 2009, the eight operating areas were consolidated
into three operating areas: North of Fraser Operating Area (including
Vancouver, West Vancouver, North Vancouver, Burnaby, New
Westminster, Tri‐Cities and Richmond); South of Fraser Operating Area
(Surrey, Delta, White Rock, Langley City and District) and the Maple Ridge
/ Pitt Meadows Operating Area (incorporating those communities).

18

TransLink is working with partner
agencies to integrate its network and
other transportation options, namely:
a study to coordinate with the City of
Vancouver's streetcar demonstration
project during the Olympic period;
participate in the Strategic Review of
Transit in the Fraser Valley with the
MoTI and the Fraser Valley Regional
District.

The City of Vancouver's streetcar proposals are being reviewed and
considered through the Rapid Transit Strategic Network Review. This will
assist TransLink in determining its potential to be expanded and
integrated with rapid transit within Vancouver. TransLink worked
throughout 2009 as an active partner agency (alongside the MoTI, and
the Fraser Valley Regional District) on the Strategic Review of Transit in
the Fraser Valley. The review is currently ongoing, on time and budget,
and expected to be completed in early 2010.

Roads, Bridges and Goods Movement
Page #
Item(s) Noted
20
In 2009, TransLink will provide OMR
funding at the rate of $13,250/lane‐
kilometre.
20
20,21

22
22

22

Comments
Municipalities were funded at the approved rate.

The 2009 MRN Minor Capital Program
will provide funding of $20 million.
Projects approved for 2009: continue
with the widening of Fraser Highway
in Surrey, with construction
anticipated to be completed in 2009;
work will continue on the Coast
Meridian Overpass.
In 2009, TransLink will contribute $35
million to the Major Capital Program.

The approved 2009 capital program included $20 million for minor road
capital.
Coast Meridian Overpass was officially opened on March 6, 2010. Fraser
Highway widening is still under construction and scheduled to be
completed by December 2011.

The Roberts Bank Rail Corridor
Program will receive $15 million from
the Major Capital Program allocation
for 2009.
In 2009, TransLink will complete a
$15.7 million rehabilitation and
seismic upgrade program for the
Knight Street Bridge.

Funds were allocated as planned.

The approved 2009 capital program included $35 million for major road
capital.

The completion of the third phase of the project was deferred, as the
first two phases were more costly than anticipated. Federal funding has
been secured and the final phase will be proceeding in the near future.
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22

Completion of Golden Ears Bridge for
July 1, 2009 opening.

The Golden Ears Bridge achieved Substantial Completion on June 9, 2009,
approximately three weeks ahead of schedule. The bridge was officially
opened to traffic on June 16, 2009, following a pedestrian‐only
celebration event on June 14, 2009.

22

The Albion Ferry service will be
discontinued when the Golden Ears
Bridge opens
Funds will be allocated to the Murray
Clarke Connector.

The Albion Ferry ceased operations on July 31, 2009.

22

The planned $46 million TransLink contribution will not proceed until
supplemental funding is approved.

23

Phased completion of the Greater
Vancouver Goods Movement Study is
scheduled for 2009.

The Greater Vancouver Goods Movement Study (Phase II) funded jointly
by TransLink, Transport Canada and MoTI, collected information about
freight logistics and was concluded on October 31, 2008. TransLink
continues to work with senior government partners to support data
collection initiatives.

23

Continued work on the Pacific
Gateway Strategy includes: North
Shore Trade Area Study (NSTA); South
Shore Trade Area Study (SSTA); and
evaluation of the future of the New
Westminster Rail Bridge over the
Fraser River.

NSTA and SSTA studies (initiated and led by Transport Canada) identified
potential road network improvements. The Government of Canada, the
Province of British Columbia, Port Metro Vancouver, TransLink, local
municipalities and the private sector are partnering to invest in excess of
$225 million in five infrastructure improvements on the North Shore that
will enhance rail and port operations and build Canada's Pacific Gateway.
TransLink is cited as the delivery agent for the low‐level road re‐
alignment in the City of North Vancouver, however funding for this
project is not included in the 2010 Funding Stabilization Plan.
TransLink, while participating in the SSTA study, is not involved in the
SSTA project implementation. TransLink evaluation included a rail
crossing of the Fraser River in the scope of the Pattullo Bridge
replacement project. Transport Canada has not completed an
assessment of the future bridge requirements, and TransLink has
proceeded to plan the Pattullo Bridge replacement excluding an
integrated rail crossing.

Regional Cycling
Page #
Item(s) Noted
24
For 2009, the TransLink Cycling
Program will continue to focus on
providing support to municipalities for
construction of new bike routes, as
well as programs and funding in
support of information for cyclists,
including cycling maps and guides, and
promotional activities to encourage
more people to use bikes.

24

TransLink is developing a long range
Regional Bicycle Plan to identify
priorities for investment that is
expected to be completed in late
2009.

Comments
TransLink's Cycling Program continued to contribute capital funding
toward construction of the Canada Line bike/pedestrian bridge ($3
million for 2009). A further $2.55 million in capital funding was
distributed among municipalities with approved cycling infrastructure
projects. The BC Parkway Site Assessment, Upgrades and Conceptual
Design was completed in 2009. TransLink published an updated Metro
Vancouver Cycling Map (4th Edition). TransLink contributed $127,000 to
organizations such as the Vancouver Area Cycling Coalition, Better
Environmentally Sound Transportation (BEST), and PEDAL (Pedal Energy
Development Alternatives) to deliver cycling education programs, the
Bike Month and other regional promotional activities, as well as Bike to
Work Week.
The work to develop a Regional Cycling Strategy continued in 2009 with
completion of a Cycling Network Study, and drafts of a Cycling Support
Facilities study and a Bicycle Monitoring Program study were completed.
Stakeholder comments and the findings of the studies are inputs to the
draft Regional Cycling Strategy which will be considered for approval by
TransLink in 2010.
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TravelSmart (more details provided in Section 6)
Page #
Item(s) Noted
Comments
26
In 2009, TransLink will restructure the
During 2009 the EPP was re‐designed with a new web‐based system.
Employer Pass Program (EPP) to allow
Significant growth has been experienced pre‐Olympics. All company
for more rapid growth.
coordinators are being trained on the new system.
26

26

27

27

27

TravelSmart, an individual
transportation information and
marketing program targeted directly
at households, will target both
employers and residences along the
Canada Line in 2009.
Other initiatives include: telework,
parking management strategies,
active transportation programs,
bicycle user groups, shared shuttle
vehicles between a number of
companies, and sponsorship of the
Bike to Work Week, the Commuter
Cycling Skills course and the Ride‐
Share Week.
Real‐time transit arrival information,
to be launched in late 2009 using WAP
(mobile web) site and a Facebook
application.
TransLink’s website will be further
overhauled in 2009, to provide more
options for accessing transit
information and new tools to help
improve dialogue.
TransLink is working with local and
provincial road agencies to install
traffic sensors at key locations to
collect and transmit real‐time traffic
information.

27

Dynamic information is provided as
service alerts to customers online, and
through dynamic signs and text
messaging (SMS). These media also
provide advertising opportunities that
would assist in recovering the costs.

27

Partnership continues with Google to
provide transit information through
Google Maps.

Employer outreach has been conducted. Household outreach will
commence post‐Olympics.

Telework pilot has been completed. Active transportation programs such
as Bike to Work Week and Ride Share show significant increase over
2008.

This project has been delayed until after the Olympics.

The corporate website has been overhauled to meet customer demand
and expectation, including more options for accessing service
information and new tools to improve dialogue with our customers.
American Public Transportation Association 2009 conference recognized
TransLink’s user‐friendly website as being the best in North America.
A new project titled Regional Traffic Data System has been approved for
implementation in 2010. The project is planned to commence mid 2010
and completed within one year. New cell‐phone GPS technology is also
being considered for traffic congestion data collection instead of
investment in traffic sensor installation.
The customer subscriptions and notifications system was launched and is
being used to push out customer information to users. Also launched is a
pilot program with LIPSO (SMS aggregator) and Yellow Pages to generate
revenue from the Next Bus SMS service. Advertising opportunities on the
TransLink website will be implemented after the Olympics. SkyTrain
digital signs have been installed in stations, featuring advertising and
providing current information such a service alerts, and emergency or
Amber alerts.
This is a very strong partnership, which continues to garner excellent
customer feedback. The program was expanded for the Olympics in
conjunction with VANOC and BC Transit to provide an integrated trip
planner via Google Maps for Metro Vancouver, the OBN (Olympic Bus
Network) and the Squamish to Pemberton corridor. TransLink scheduling
data has been made available to software developers (using Google
Transit Feed Specification (GTFS) format) to encourage product
innovation.

Page 13 of 96

South Coast British Columbia Transportation Authority ‐ 2009 Statutory Annual Report

Strategic Initiatives
Page
#
Item(s) Noted
28
TransLink is developing a regional,
multi‐modal wayfinding plan that will
lay the groundwork for an integrated
system across the region. Phase 2
relates to the implementation of the
transit strategy, including detailed
design specifications for SkyTrain
stations. Implementation will begin in
late 2008 or early 2009, a pilot project
at two SkyTrain stations to test the
effectiveness of the design.
28
TransLink proposes to install new
wayfinding in the remainder of the
transit system. Scope, schedule and
budget for this work will be developed
in 2009.
29
The Sustainability Policy, to be
completed in 2009, reinforces
TransLink's commitment to maintain
and improve the quality of life in the
region and provide direction for our
planning and business decisions.
29
Access transit initiatives: Onboard
enunciators and displays on all buses;
system signage and assistance;
customer input through
translinklistens.ca; customer transit
training (bus buddies and train‐the‐
trainers).

March, 2010

Comments
The Wayfinding Standards for Transit are substantially complete and will
be finalized in the spring of 2010. The first phase of implementation was
scheduled to be a two station pilot project. The pilot was deferred
pending approval of an expansion supplemental plan. The only scope
approved to proceed was the Olympic wayfinding, which provided
immediate wayfinding for downtown and Olympic SkyTrain stations. The
Olympic wayfinding was substantially completed in December 2009.

All subsequent phases for wayfinding (after the Olympic phase) were put
on hold pending approval of an expansion supplemental plan.

TransLink's Sustainability Policy for creating a more sustainable future
was completed and adopted by the board in 2009. The policy articulates
TransLink's internal commitment to making sustainability a key factor in
all of its strategies, plans, business practices, decisions and operations,
and its role to facilitate the development of a sustainable region.
Onboard enunciators and visual displays are in place on all CMBC
conventional buses and community shuttles. A similar enhancement will
roll‐out to West Vancouver Transit. New “T” symbols were installed at all
major SkyTrain and transit hubs within downtown Vancouver and
proposed future wayfinding and signage upgrades have been presented
to TransLink’s Access Transit Users’ Advisory Committee for review and
comment. As part of a client record update, TransLink is obtaining
approval to contact clients for survey purposes. However, the survey
portion of this initiative was deferred. TransLink completed initial work
on establishing a pilot project for travel training in 2010.

Environment Initiatives and Greenhouse Gas Emissions Reductions
Page
#
Item(s) Noted
Comments
30
Environmental policy that provides
This policy, in place since 2003, was maintained during 2009.
overarching policy framework with
respect to environmental
considerations and impacts.
30
Environmental Management System to TransLink's Environmental Management system, in place since 2003, was
define procedures and to monitor and
maintained in 2009. As in past years, semi‐annual reports were provided
report on environmental initiatives.
to the board, and an annual management review was completed for the
TransLink executive.
30
In 2009, TransLink plans to complete:
The Sustainability Policy was approved by the board in July, 2009. The
Green Procurement Policy and
development of a Green Purchasing Policy has been deferred until
Sustainability Policy.
related Sustainability Policy work is complete, including the development
of indicators and an improvement strategy for those indicators.
30
Older buses in the fleet will be
Due to vehicle maintenance budget constraints, this work is occurring
retrofitted with diesel particulate
more slowly than anticipated and will likely require more than the
filters over the next three years to
original three years planned.
reduce particulate matter emissions
on those buses by more than 90%.
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30

30,31

Criteria air contaminants (CAC) will be
reduced by more than 85%, and fuel
consumption and GHG emissions
reduced by 20% on the third SeaBus
compared to existing vessels.
The existing SeaBus vessels will be re‐
powered in 2009 with new, more
efficient engines, reducing CAC
emissions by more than 80% and GHG
emissions by 10%.

Urban Transportation Showcase Program
Page
#
Item(s) Noted
31
The Showcase Program will be
completed early in 2009.

Fare Policy Review
Page #
Item(s) Noted
31
A fare policy review will include
TransLink's pass programs, namely
Employer Pass and Vancity U‐Pass.
The study examines the potential of
extending the U‐Pass program to
other institutions.

Real Estate Program
Page #
Item(s) Noted
32
As the Real Estate Division continues
to explore and develop the full
potential of the new program, the
outlined start‐up strategy will evolve
into a full business plan with refined
revenue targets, established priorities
and detailed procedures.

March, 2010

CAC emissions are reduced by more than 85% and fuel consumption and
GHG emissions are reduced 18% on the third SeaBus compared to the
two existing vessels.

Due to high cost of refitting the vessels to Transport Canada regulations,
replacement of the existing SeaBus vessels is a more cost effective
solution from a lifecycle cost perspective. As the third SeaBus will
essentially replace one existing SeaBus, one additional new replacement
vessel will need to be procured prior to 2012 to continue existing service.
The new vessel will reduce CAC emissions by more than 85% and GHG
(fuel consumption) by more than 20%.

Comments
The following three Showcase projects were fully completed in 2009:
Hybrid Buses, Transit Villages and TravelSmart. The Central Valley
Greenway (CVG) was commissioned in June 2009 and some interim
sections will be completed in 2010 by Vancouver and Burnaby. The Main
Street improvements were implemented in 2009 with some final
monitoring and modifications to the electronic systems to be completed
by mid‐2010. The final Showcase report will be submitted to Transport
Canada by March 2010.
Comments
A Fare Policy review was deferred until after the completion of the 2010
10‐year plan development process.
TransLink has undertaken analysis of the existing U‐Pass program.
TransLink has also participated in discussions with the provincial
government regarding a potential partnership program that could make
a new U‐Pass program available to other publically funded post‐
secondary institutions. Discussions with the Province will continue into
the early part of 2010. In the summer of 2009, TransLink implemented a
web‐based software system for the Employer Pass Program, This enables
the technical stability required in order to expand the program. With the
implementation of the new system, processes have changed as
employers now have the responsibility to process program information
themselves.

Comments
During 2009, the Real Estate Division continued to develop the full
potential of the program. A detailed business plan with revenue targets
for both leasing and sales was completed and priorities for both near
term acquisitions and land sales were established. Among the highlights
for the year were the acquisition of the Hamilton Operations and
Maintenance Centre lands, the acquisition of three key sites on the
Canada Line, commencement of development work on four key sites to
be marketed in the near term, ongoing development of a property
inventory system and commencement of a Transit Integrated
Development Program. In addition, staff assumed responsibility for 40
land related CLCo files and continue to provide support to Golden Ears
Bridge project on 33 outstanding files.
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Safety and Security
Page #
Item(s) Noted
32
TransLink is developing a
comprehensive, integrated risk
management system for safety and
security.

Financial Plan
Page #
Item(s) Noted
35
The replacement tax is forecast to
increase to its legislated maximum of
$18 million in 2009 and will be held at
that level.
38

March, 2010

Comments
The TransLink Safety and Security Strategy Committee have been
developing an integrated safety, security and emergency risk
management system to better integrate and manage these three
areas. TransLink and its subsidiaries are working together to optimize
each of these unique risk areas into a coordinated system in
prevention, preparedness, response and recovery. The 2010 Olympic
Games is providing the opportunity to validate some of these
comprehensive, integrated risk management (safety, security and
emergency management) systems.

Comments
Replacement tax of $18 million was collected in 2009.

In 2009, revenue will surpass $1 billion
for the first time in TransLink history.

Total revenues including senior government capital funding totaled
$1.2 billion in 2009.

38,39

Tolls for Golden Ears Bridge for 2009
are estimated at $13.43 million.

39

An additional $12 million is forecast
from new advertising contracts,
including LCD displays.

Actual tolls for 2009 for the Golden Ears Bridge were $11.2 million.
Revenue estimates were based on the 2004 traffic and revenue study,
which were higher than actual traffic volumes now being experienced.
The 2010 budget reflects revenues more consistent with current traffic
volumes.
This $12 million is a total amount for the period 2010 ‐ 2019 for
additional revenue to be received from LCD/digital advertising,
contained in the 10‐year financial model.

39

Real estate revenue grows from $20
million in 2009 to $22 million in 2011.

40

The 2009 10‐year plan projects fuel
costs starting at the current forward
contract rate of $1.24/litre. A 22%
increase is assumed for 2009, bringing
the rate to $1.50/litre.

41

The long term borrowing rate is
assumed to be 5.25% for 2009.

Actual long term borrowing rate for 2009 was 4.996%.

42

Continuation of $122 million in federal
gas tax funding in 2009.

Federal gas tax funding received in 2009 was $124.3 million.

At the time of the 2009 budget preparation there were two surplus
TransLink properties that were deemed to be available for sale in the
2009 fiscal year. Since that time, market conditions have changed with
prices declining and quantity of potential buyers limited. Economic
forecasts have indicated that recovery will occur within the next two
years. In order to obtain the best monetary realization from these
properties, the marketing of these properties has been delayed to post
2009.
The large rate increase forecasted for 2009 did not materialize as a
result actual costs for diesel fuel were below the 2009 budget by $28
million. In‐service buses with higher fuel efficiency also contributed to
a lower usage factor and ultimately a lower cost.
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Status Update – 2008 Transportation and Financial Plan Delays

The following items were identified in the 2008 Statutory Report as being delayed into 2009. An update of their
status is provided below:
Item Noted
2008 Statutory Report Response
Intelligent Transportation System Projects
Expand the Regional Traveler
The project was delayed until the
Information to provide real‐time
completion of the regional detector
traffic information on the Pattullo
strategy. An RFP will be issued in
and Knight Street Bridges.
mid‐2009 for the concept of
operations and system design work.
Transit System Service
94 expansion vehicles (69 standard The articulated buses delivery is
buses, 21 articulated buses and
delayed to 2009.
four community shuttles).
U‐Pass
Expand the U‐pass program to
The U‐Pass program was expanded
Langara and Capilano colleges.
to Langara College in May 2008 and
to Capilano University in January
2009. The Capilano University delay
was due to the need to construct
required transit infrastructure.
Bus and Sea Bus Service
Implement new BRT route along
Not implemented due to delayed
Hastings Street.
arrival of articulated buses and the
routes designation as RapidBus in
the Provincial Transit Plan (a higher
level of service that what had been
envisioned). A Transit Priority
Measures study for the corridor was
commenced in 2008 and will be
completed in the spring of 2010.
Transit Signal Priority (TSP) will be
Project has not commenced as we
implemented along the Broadway
are waiting for the completion of
corridor as part of continuing
the Main Street TSP in June 2009
improvements to the BRT network. system before further deployment.
Received CMC’s approval in fall,
2009 to proceed with TSP design in
2010.
Skytrain
Surrey Central Station
The Surrey Central Transit Village is
Improvement.
part of the Urban Transportation
Showcase Project. Planning and
design is complete. The
implementation phase has been
deferred due to a city area plan
review.

Status Update
RFP preparation is underway.

The delayed articulated buses
were delivered in 2009.

The U‐Pass program was expanded
to Capilano University in January
2009.

Work was completed on an RFP for
an urban BRT study, but was put
on hold due to TransLink’s
initiation of higher level Rapid
Transit Strategic Network Review.
Once this review is complete, the
urban BRT study can once again be
initiated.
Quotation for the design work has
been received from the TSP
supplier.

Further steps were taken towards
realization of the Surrey Central
Transit Village plan in 2009 with
planning for new road connections
and transit service occurring as
part of City of Surrey’s plans to
relocate City Hall to the City
Centre.
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2009 Financial Plan

2009 Financial Plan
The 2009 10‐Year Transportation and Financial Plan included a high‐level forecast (see page 38) of projected
revenues and expenditures for the year. The forecast provided the framework for the development of the detailed
2009 budget.
The table below compares the 2009 plan forecast to the budget (which was approved December 2008) as well as
the 2009 actual results. The table presentation format is similar to what was presented in the plan document.
A detailed review of 2009 actual revenue and expenditures compared to the 2009 budget is provided in Section 5.

TransLink
2009 Plan compared to Budget and Actual Results

($ millions)

2009
Plan

2009
Budget

2009
Actual

Actual‐Plan
Fav./
(Unfav.)

Revenues
Transit *

388.3

381.3

366.7

‐5.6%

Golden Ears Bridge Tolls

13.4

13.4

11.2

‐16.6%

Real Estate

20.6

15.0

‐

Fuel

269.6

264.8

259.8

‐3.6%

Property

Taxation
263.2

263.2

264.1

0.4%

Replacement Tax

18.0

18.0

18.0

0.0%

Parking Sales Tax

14.9

15.1

15.6

4.5%

Hydro Levy
Total Taxation
Interest Income
Senior Government Contributions
Total Revenues

18.4

18.1

18.2

‐1.0%

584.1

579.2

575.7

‐1.4%

‐

3.7

1.7

6.8

7.0

7.5

10.3%

1,013.2

999.6

962.8

‐5.0%

Expenditures
797.1

817.8

763.4

4.2%

Roads & Bridges

Transit Operations

43.2

46.7

43.6

‐0.9%

TransLink

46.4

46.8

39.1

15.8%

Other Programs

16.5

7.9

9.1

44.8%

‐

‐

‐

Total Expenditures

903.3

919.1

855.2

5.3%

Surplus/(Deficit) before Debt Service Costs

109.9

80.5

107.6

‐2.1%

Re‐Structuring Costs

‐

‐

3.1

Loss on disposal of capital assets

‐

‐

1.1

Debt Service Costs

191.8

183.5

170.7

11.0%

Surplus/(Deficit)

(81.8)

(67.3)

17.8%

Corporate Contingency

(103.1)

‐

* Mission subsidy moved into Transit fare revenue (budget & actual columns)
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Plan vs. Budget
Budgeted revenues for 2009 were updated as new information was received after the plan document was
published. As a result of lower anticipated ridership levels, transit revenue was reduced by $7.0 million below plan.
The 2009 plan amount for real estate revenues was based on very early estimates, while the 2009 budget was
based on the sale of two specific surplus properties. Due to lower than expected fuel volume sales, the fuel tax
revenue was reduced by $4.8 million compared to plan. Interest income on cash held in operating reserve is now
included in the revenue budget.
Budgeted operating expenditures were $15.9 million higher than plan, primarily due to higher transit costs.
Budgeted debt service costs were $8.2 million lower than the plan, due to lower interest rates and delayed capital
spending.
The budgeted drawdown on reserves is $21 million higher than anticipated in the 2009 plan. This is 2% of
expenditures and is reasonable, given the financial risk factors in both revenues and expenditures.
Plan vs. Actual
Even though the deteriorating economy in 2009 reduced revenues significantly, TransLink was able to take the
necessary steps to reduce expenditures and end the year with a deficit of $14.5 million better than the 2009 plan.
Total revenues were 5% below plan or $50 million. The global economic crisis of 2008, which filtered into 2009,
had a major impact on TransLink’s ability to achieve the revenue targets as set out in the 2009 plan. As a result,
total transit fare revenues were down 5.6% ($21.6 million) from plan, although successful increases to the
Employer Pass and U‐Pass programs helped to mitigate the shortfall. Golden Ears Bridge tolls were down 16.6% as
traffic volumes were overstated in the plan. Real estate revenues ($20.6 million) were not realized in 2009 as
properties targeted for sale were held due to falling prices.
Actual expenditures for 2009 were 5.3% below plan estimates. Transit operations accounted for more than 70% of
this reduction, realizing a $34 million reduction. The implementation of cost containment initiatives along with
lower diesel fuel prices were the main reasons for the reduction. The balance of the expenditure reduction ($14
million) was realized in the TransLink and other programs areas resulting from restructuring, cost containment
initiatives and meeting core service levels.
Debt service costs were below plan by $21 million due to delays in capital spending, which reflected reduced
borrowing costs and lower capitalizations than planned.
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2009 Capital Program

The following schedule lists the projects that have been included in the 2009 capital program and provides
information on approval dates and forecast final costs. Detail on projects added to and deleted from the original
Approval‐in‐Principle budget follows.
SOUTH COAST BRITISH COLUMBIA TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY
AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2009
($ 000'S)
Approval ‐in‐
Principle

TransLink Capital Program
(Bold descriptions indicate SPA not rec'd)

1

Budget

Specific Project Approval
Budget

ID #

Date
Approved

2

Total
Actual
Forecast‐
Final
Completion
Budget Cost to Date To Complete Forecast Cost
Date

Year 2009 Capital Program
TRANSIT ‐ MAJOR PROJECTS
1

SkyTra i n Fi bre Opti c Sys te m Upgra de s ‐ Expo Li ne ‐ Pha s e 1

2

STC Faci lity Upgrade

3

4,600

4/11/09

4,740

131

4,514

8/7/09 12,708

1,241

10,054

4,645

Mar. 2012

7,550

Phase 1

1,495

Phase 2

10,265
Subtotal ‐ Major Projects

3

5,830

TRANSIT ‐ MINOR PROJECTS
Bus Securi ty Cameras and Safety Program Enhancements ‐
Phase 3
STC WWTP Replacement & Redi recti on of Bus Wash
3

13,380

16,360

3,970

4

Discharge

1,200

5

Knight Group TOH Rectifier Replacement

7,450

11,295 Feb. 2011

21/10/09

Cancell ed
Included above in STC Phase 2
SPA i n 2010

6

Runni ng Rai l Repl acement ‐ New West Curve

1,160

1,160

13/05/09

1,160

1,059

5

1,064

Jan. 2010

7

Scott Road Station West Pod El evator

1,605

1,605

5/8/09

1,705

17

1,349

1,366

Apr. 2011

8

Electronic FareCard & Controll ed Access ‐ Phase 2
Minor Capital Account (Funds allocated to indi vidual
Minor Capital Projects)

1,000

2,250

23/01/09

2,526

557

1,314

1,871

June 2010

5,000

5,000

N/A

n/a

1,300

18/02/09

1,300

342

741

1,083

July 2010

21,385

11,315

5/6/09 28,100

9,555

17,993

27,548

Sept.2010

2,745

1,063

6

1,069

Feb. 2010

15/04/09 20,000

0

20,000

20,000

Mar. 2012

9
10

Bridgeport Transit Signal Pri ority Project
Subtotal ‐ Minor Projects
FLEET PROGRAM

11

2010 HandyDART Vehicl es Replacement

3,885

12

WCE Service and Facili ty Expansion

27,730

13

2010 SkyTrain Expansion ‐ 24 Mark II Cars

75,000

14

Fleet Replacement of 15 Leased CNG Buses
Subtotal ‐ Fleet

Cancell ed
28,100

Cancell ed

n/a

2,745

106,615

30,845

20,000

20,000

27/03/09

ROAD & BRIDGE PROGRAM
15

2009 MRN Mi nor Capi tal Program

16

2009 Bicycle Capital Program

6,000
4

‐ Canada Line Bi cycl e and Pedestrian Bri dge

‐ Bicycle Infrastructure Capital Cost Sharing (BICCS)
Program

3,050

16/12/06

8,500

10,436

0

10,436

Jan. 2010

2,550

8/7/09

2,550

0

2,550

2,550

Dec. 2010

2,175

1,770

249

2019

July 2010

88,209

26,171

58,775

84,946

‐ TransLink Owned
17

SPA i n 2010

Pattullo Bri dge Emergency Repai rs
Subtotal ‐ Road

Total Y2009 Capital Program

n/a

2,000

26,000

27,600

167,380

86,120

23/01/09

1: The Board of Di rectors Approves in Principl e capital projects through the annual Capi tal Program on the recommendation of the Capital Management
Commi ttee (CME). The Board can Approve in Pri nciple projects that were not originally included in the annual Capital Program on the recommendation of the
CMC or as otherwise required. The Approval i n Principle budgets for these projects are added to the total Ai P budget for the overall Capital Program.
2: Projects approved within the Capi tal Program (i.e., with Approval in Pri nciple) are brought forward for Speci fic Project Approval based on detailed Project
Justificati ons and Workplans reviewed by the CMC. Speci fic Project Approvals incl udes approval of the scope and budget.
3: AiP projects # 2 STC Faci lity Upgrade and #4 STC WWTP Replacement & Redi recti on of Bus Wash Discharge are bei ng combi ned and implemented under
project # 0829.
4 Spe ci fi c Proje ct Approva l wa s re ce i ve d for the e nti re proje ct i n 2006 wi th the budge t to be forma l l y "a s s i gne d" e a ch ye a r through future a l l oca ti ons of the
Bi cycl e Ca pi ta l Progra m.
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TransLink Capital Program Status
Additions, Deletions and Projects not Initiated
Title

Budget
$000s

Reason

Additions to 2009 Capital Program
Bridgeport Transit Signal Priority.

1,300

Fleet Replacement of 15 Leased CNG
Buses.

2,745

Pattullo Bridge Emergency Repairs.

2,000

To improve transit travel time for South of Fraser bus routes terminating
at Bridgeport Station, MoTI planned to construct a northbound shoulder
bus lane on Highway 99 between Highway 91 off‐ramp and Bridgeport
Road off‐ramp. As a further opportunity to reduce travel times, MoTI
asked TransLink to implement a transit signal priority system, and agreed
to provide $600,000 as a grant ($1.3M is the gross budget).
The lease for 15 1998 CNG buses expired July 2008 and it was
recommended to purchase the buses from the lease holder. Following an
analysis of costs and emissions, this project request was submitted to re‐
power the buses with diesel engines and install diesel particulate filters.
A fire destroyed the timber spans on the south end of the Pattullo Bridge
in January, resulting in complete closure to traffic. TransLink’s board
approved the capital funding for emergency repairs, which were
completed in one week.

Deletions from 2009 Capital Program
Bus Security Cameras and Safety Program
Enhancements – Phase 3.

3,970

2010 HandyDART Vehicles Replacement.

3,885

2010 SkyTrain Expansion – 24 MKII Cars

75,000

The scope of phase 2 was expanded to include the priority scope elements
of phase 3 without exceeding the Approval in Principle budget. As a result,
phase 3 is no longer required.
The planned 2009 expansion service was cancelled following approval of
the 2010 10‐Year Plan. Subsequently, it was determined that 2010
replacement vehicle requirements will be filled by the vehicles that were
procured for 2009 expansion. Therefore, this replacement project would
not be required.
This expansion project received Approved in Principle on the basis that it
would only proceed under an approved expansion supplemental plan.
Option for additional cars expired December 31, 2009. The planned
expansion was cancelled following approval of the 2010 10‐Year Plan.

2009 Projects not Initiated
Knight Group TOH Rectifier Replacement.

7,450

2009 Bicycle Capital Program – TransLink
Owned.

400

Preliminary design phase was approved in 2009 and is currently underway.
There are placement options, in addition to vendor options, which are
being assessed now. Upon completion, the scope and budget can be
finalized and Specific Project Approval will be submitted in 2010.
Funding proposed to go towards design of BC Parkway upgrades. Specific
Project Approval will be submitted in 2010.

Prior Years Program Deletions
#99 B‐Line Upgrades.

2,090

#95 Hastings/SFU B‐Line Infrastructure.

5,225

Burnaby North Relocation – Detailed
Design and Pre‐Construction Activities.

4,730

This project has been on hold pending completion of other related studies.
The project was cancelled as it is identified as a new BRT improvement
project to proceed only under an expansion supplemental plan.
This project has been on hold pending completion of other related studies.
The project was cancelled as it is identified as a new BRT improvement
project to proceed only under an expansion supplemental plan.
A property was purchased in the Lougheed‐Boundary area of Burnaby.
TransLink’s development proposal for the site was not accepted by the
City of Burnaby. With no relocation property, and with the approval of the
2010 10‐Year Plan delaying further bus expansion, the project was
cancelled. A new Transit Facilities Plan will be developed in conjunction
with an expansion supplemental plan; the new plan should consider
options to locate the functions currently residing at Burnaby North. In the
interim, high priority renovations to the existing facility will be undertaken
to extend the occupancy for approximately five years.
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Prior Years Projects Not Initiated
IANS System Non‐Fire Auxiliary Monitoring
and Control Subsystem Replacement.
TransLink Regional Wayfinding System
Upgrade.

SeaBus Midlife Refit.

2008 Bicycle Capital Program – TransLink
Owned.

1,195
4,185

14,725

400

Project delays due to lower priority relative to other projects. Specific
Project Approval will be requested in early 2010.
The project received partial Specific Project Approval in 2009, for the
implementation of Olympic wayfinding signage. All other project activities
related to previously approved or future project phases, have been put on
hold until an expansion supplemental plan is approved.
To reduce scope and budget uncertainty, detailed design and procurement
activities were completed under minor capital. The proposals submitted
for the refit project were significantly higher in cost than expected.
Following completion of a lifecycle analysis, it was recommended and
approved that, as the third SeaBus would become a replacement vessel
for one of the existing vessels, the project should proceed as procurement
of a new SeaBus to replace the other older vessel. Work is currently
underway to update the design drawings. Specific Project Approval will be
requested in 2010.
Funding proposed to go towards design of BC Parkway upgrades. Specific
Project Approval will be submitted in 2010.

Page 22 of 96

South Coast British Columbia Transportation Authority ‐ 2009 Statutory Annual Report

5.

March, 2010

2009 Financial and Performance Report
Executive Summary

The global economic crisis of 2008 and the funding issues identified in the 2009 10‐Year Transportation and Financial
Plan played a large role in shaping 2009 for TransLink. With that as the backdrop, two major projects, the Golden Ears
Bridge and Canada Line, were completed and began operations around the mid‐way mark of the year, with both opening
ahead of schedule. As well, preparations for the Vancouver 2010 Winter Olympic Games, involving all areas of the
organization, continued unabated.
Development of the 2010 10‐Year Transportation and Financial Plan, developed in the first half of the year, resulted in
the Funding Stabilization Plan that included a $130 million revenue supplement to maintain existing transit service levels.
While this fell short of the investment level required to achieve the vision of the Provincial Transit Plan and Transport
2040, it was a significant step in a difficult economic climate. This is the largest funding increase since TransLink was
created.
As the 10‐year plan process began to wrap up, it became apparent that the revenue targets for 2009 would not likely be
achieved. Forecast prepared at the end of the second and third quarters projected revenue shortfalls in the $30‐$40
million range. The average fare per revenue passenger for the year was 2.6% lower than 2008 despite a 5.1% increase in
revenue passengers. If that trend continued over the 2010‐11 period, the already minimal surplus projected for 2012
would be eliminated. That fiscal reality resulted in an increased organizational focus on cost management while
maintaining delivery of core services. Many actions were undertaken in the year to reduce costs and build‐up the
cumulative surplus. Cost containment strategies included suspending planned fall and winter bus service expansion,
freezing non‐service related hiring, and reducing training, travel and meetings, research and studies and other
administrative expenditures. Capital spending not essential to the delivery of core service was deferred and supplier
payment terms were amended to standard business practices. The 2010 budget process included a $30 million reduction
target that will further increase the cumulative surplus from what the 2010 Funding Stabilization Plan anticipated as part
of the offset to revenue risk.
TransLink ended the year with a deficit of $67 million, $36 million lower than budget and $10 million lower than the
previous forecast. Revenues are $35 million under‐budget, essentially consistent with earlier forecasts. Expenditures
are $70.4 million under‐budget (including other items), with fuel price reductions contributing $28 million. The year‐end
expenditure savings are a $13‐million improvement from the third quarter forecast and a $34‐million improvement from
the second quarter forecast.
The operating cost per revenue passenger was held to an increase of 2.8% compared to an average of 5.2% in the prior
three years. The bus average operating cost per service hour was constant for 2009 compared to an average 3.5%
increase in the three previous years. Rail service cost per vehicle kilometre increased 1.5%, the average for 2005‐2009
was 5.5%. The opening of the Canada Line and the introduction of longer trains contributed to the increase for 2009.
Access Transit strategy implementation, which consolidated a number of smaller operating areas into larger areas, will
improve customer service and operating efficiency. A work stoppage by HandyDART operators resulted in only
emergency service being provided between October 25 and January 11.
In June, the Golden Ears Bridge went into operation, and subsequently the Albion ferry service was discontinued. The
addition of another crossing over the Fraser River resulted in a number of bus route changes. Traffic volumes for 2009
on the Golden Ears Bridge are short of the forecast developed in the business plan and are currently being reviewed. In
August, the Canada Line began operation, replacing the 98 B‐line service and resulting in significant route changes.
Several back office processes were also affected by the introduction of these services. Olympic preparations in the later
part of the year ramped up with plans for additional services and the redeployment of staff to provide assistance at the
major transit points.
Customer satisfaction ratings improved to 2005 levels after dropping in 2007 and 2008. Internal employee measures for
employee injuries and voluntary resignations also improved in 2009.
In all, TransLink was able to make the best of a difficult year, securing sufficient funding to maintain existing transit
service levels, dealing quickly with eroding financial performance and delivering significant service expansion in transit,
roads and bridges.
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Operating Activity

TransLink evaluates the performance of its operations using key performance measures that are linked to its goals,
objectives and strategies. Selected operating results and key performance indicators are shown in the table below.

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

08‐09
% Chg.

Service hours
4,893,457
5,117,216
5,333,014
5,588,413
5,953,617
Revenue passengers
159,713,533 165,073,203 172,069,507 178,796,367 187,912,227
Average fare per revenue passenger
$1.78
$1.82
$1.84
$1.94
$1.89
Operating cost per passenger kilometre
$0.272
$0.291
$0.303
$0.324
$0.333
Bus ‐ Average operating cost per service hour
$96.47
$101.85
$104.46
$110.55
$110.74
Rail ‐ Average operating cost per vehicle kilometre *
$2.20
$2.34
$2.33
$2.67
$2.71
Operating cost recovery **
56.4%
53.8%
52.5%
52.0%
49.8%
Overall customer performance ‐ average rating
7.3
7.3
7.1
7.0
7.3
Overall customer performance ‐ % rated 8‐10
53%
53%
49%
48%
53%
Passenger injuries per 1 million boarded passengers ***
0.46
0.45
2.56
3.05
3.91
Employee injuries per 200,000 hours worked
7.27
7.01
6.16
6.45
5.63
Voluntary resignations per 100 employees
2.37
3.23
2.99
2.21
1.94

6.5%
5.1%
‐2.6%
2.8%
0.2%
1.5%
‐4.2%
4.3%
10.4%
28.2%
‐12.7%
‐12.2%

SCHEDULED TRANSIT SERVICE

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

ACCESS TRANSIT ****
Service Hours
500,911
519,480
548,858
592,433
Revenue Passengers
1,246,380
1,260,245
1,308,321
1,365,447
Operating cost per revenue passenger
$20.45
$21.56
$23.11
$26.50
Operating cost per service hour
$50.88
$52.30
$55.10
$61.09
Passenger injuries per 1 million boarded passengers
‐
‐
10.59
6.71
Note: Scheduled transit service includes Bus, SeaBus, SkyTrain, Canada Line and West Coast Express services.
* Previous year's results were adjusted to include non‐revenue kilometres
** Total operating revenue/total operating cost
*** Passenger injuries for the Bus Division were not recorded prior to 2007
**** Access Transit services were subject to a work stoppage from October 25, 2009 to January 11, 2010

515,435
1,216,975
$33.20
$78.38
3.73

08‐09
% Chg.
‐13.0%
‐10.9%
25.3%
28.3%
‐44.4%

05‐09
Avg. %
Chg.
5.0%
4.2%
1.6%
5.2%
3.5%
5.5%
‐3.0%
0.0%
0.2%
128.5%
‐5.9%
‐2.4%
05‐09
Avg. %
Chg.
1.1%
‐0.4%
13.1%
11.8%
‐

Service hours and revenue passengers are the key measures of transit operating activity. Actual service hours
delivered increased 6.5% over last year. For the period 2005‐2009, service hours have increased an average 5.0%
annually.
Revenue passengers increased 5.1% over 2008, which is above the four year average annual increase of 4.2% and
slightly lower than the growth in service hours. Ridership growth usually lags the growth in service hours, as it
takes some time for riders to become aware of the new service and change their behaviour. In addition, some
service changes are targeted to address over‐crowded routes, and not necessarily to add new ridership.
The average fare per revenue passenger decreased in 2009 by 2.6% as revenue passengers increased at
approximately twice the rate of transit fare revenue. Prepaid fares increased 3% over 2008, whereas cash fares
decreased by 1.5% over the same period. Prepaid fares being discounted has resulted in the reduction of average
fare per revenue passenger. The average fare per revenue passenger has increased on average 1.6% over the past
four years.
Operating cost per passenger kilometre increased 2.8% in 2009; this is lower than the average increase of 5.2% for
the period 2005‐2009. Strong ridership growth combined with cost containment initiatives resulted in the lower
growth rate.
The average cost per hour for bus service remained virtually the same as 2008. Costs grew at the same rate as
service hours, reversing earlier trends of costs increasing faster than service. Cost containment initiatives and
lower fuel prices offset other cost increases. The operating cost per hour for bus service increased by 3.5%
annually between 2005‐2009.
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The average operating cost per rail vehicle kilometre increased 1.5% in 2009. This is due to a variety of factors,
including the addition of the Canada Line service in August 2009, an increase in kilometres due to longer MKII
trains being used and cost containment initiatives. The average annual increase over the last four years was 5.5%.
Transit revenue (including advertising and miscellaneous revenue) covered 49.8% of transit operating costs. This is
slightly higher than the 48.8% budget target, but has declined from the 52.0% recovery achieved in 2008. Transit
costs have grown at a faster rate than transit revenue. This change reflects rapid growth in service over the last
five years, slightly slower growth in revenue as ridership growth tends to build over time, and higher maintenance
costs, particularly for new bus technologies and improved accessibility features.
Access Transit service hours and revenue passengers decreased 13% and 10.9% respectively in 2009. Service was
to increase in 2009 by 8%; however, actual service delivered declined due to a work stoppage from October 25,
2009 to January 11, 2010. This resulted in an average annual growth in service hours of only 1.1% over the past
four years. Revenue passengers had been growing by an average of 3% annually in the three years prior to 2009;
however, the work stoppage resulted in an average decline of 0.4% over the last four years.
Operating cost per revenue passenger increased by 25.3% and operating cost per service hour increased by 28.3%,
also due to the work stoppage, as fixed costs continued with only essential service levels for passengers. As well,
the transition in 2009 to a single contractor has resulted in various one‐time costs that will be offset by long‐term
savings and increased customer service.
The overall performance‐average rating shows a 4.3% increase in 2009, which is the same 7.3 rating in 2005 and
2009. The percentage of passengers who rate the service between eight and 10 (out of 10) was 53% in 2009
compared to 48% in 2008, a 10.4% increase. This rating is the same for 2005 and 2009. An average rating of seven
out of 10 or 50% good‐to‐excellent is the cut‐off point below which remedial action is recommended. The
attributes identified for 2009 together with strategies to improve these scores are:
•
•
•
•
•

Value for money (6.7/10) – Develop/implement strategies to improve customer awareness and support
TransLink’s roles and responsibilities for regional transportation.
Good connections between buses and transit modes with a reasonable wait time (6.8/10) – Ongoing work
between TransLink Planning and service providers to improve modal connectivity.
Adequacy of transit information at stops and stations (6.6/10) – Complete and implement revisions to
corporate wayfinding strategy.
Adequacy of transit information on transit vehicles – Bus (6.6/10) – Complete and implement revisions to
corporate wayfinding strategy.
Having enough bus shelters at bus stops throughout the region (6.2/10) – Continue to work with Coast
Mountain Bus Company (CMBC) and municipalities to manage the Transit‐related Road and Infrastructure
Program (TRRIP) to jointly fund new and improved bus shelter facilities.

Passengers’ injuries per one million boarded passengers was reduced by 44.4% in 2009 for access transit and
increased 28.2% in scheduled transit service. It should be noted that passenger injuries were not tracked by the
Bus Division prior to 2007.
Employee injuries per 200,000 hours worked continue to trend lower, with the 12.7% reduction in 2009 being
much better than the 5.9% annual average decrease over the last four years.
Voluntary resignations per 100 employees have decreased by 12.2% in 2009 and decreased 2.4% over the past four
years. In 2009, there were 17 fewer voluntary resignations with an employee base increase of 6.7% in the same
period. The softening of the labour market is a contributor to fewer voluntary resignations.
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Revenues and Expenditures

The following table compares 2009 actual results to the approved budget.
Appendix 1 provides a more detailed breakdown of revenues and expenditures compared to budget.

TransLink
2009 Revenue and Expenditures Summary
(On a Funding Basis)
2008
Actual

2009
Actual

2009
Budget

Transit
Golden Ears Bridge Tolls
Real Estate
Taxation
Interest Income
Senior Government contributions

359.9
‐
‐
560.1
6.5
‐

366.7
11.3
0.0
575.8
1.7
7.5

Total Revenues

926.5

Roads & Bridges
Transit
TransLink
Transit Police
Interest
Depreciation
Debt Repayment
GEB Capital Payments
Total Operating Expenditures

millions of dollars
Revenues

Fav./
(Unfav.)

%

381.3
13.4
15.0
579.2
1.8
7.0

(14.6)
(2.1)
(15.0)
(3.4)
(0.1)
0.5

‐3.8%
‐15.9%
‐100.0%
‐0.6%
‐3.6%
7.1%

963.0

997.7

(34.7)

‐3.5%

37.5
664.8
53.2
22.1
63.4
5.7
70.5
‐

43.6
736.7
48.3
26.8
78.1
8.9
79.4
4.4

46.7
789.4
54.7
28.4
80.8
15.4
82.1
3.3

3.1
52.7
6.4
1.7
2.7
6.6
2.7
(1.1)

6.6%
6.7%
11.6%
5.8%
3.3%
42.7%
3.3%
‐33.0%

917.1

1,026.1

1,100.8

‐
1.2

3.1
1.1

‐
‐

(3.1)
(1.1)

‐
‐

8.2

(67.3)

(103.1)

35.7

34.7%

312.3

268.2

44.0

16.4%

Operating Expenditures

Re‐Structuring Costs
Loss on Disposal of capital assets
Annual Funded Surplus/(Deficit)
Cumulative Funded Surplus

379.6

74.6

6.8%

TransLink’s legislation requires that it maintains an accumulated funded surplus. Funded Statements capture the
revenues and expenditures that determine the cumulative funded surplus. The specifics of the funding
adjustments are provided in Appendix 2.
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Revenues
Total revenues are $34.7 million below budget. Transit revenues are $14.6 million below budget, real estate
revenues are $15 million below budget and taxation revenues are $3.4 million below budget.
1.0

Transit Revenue ‐ $14.6 million Unfavourable

Transit revenues are significantly below budget by $14.6 million. Ridership growth was lower than anticipated as
the economic downturn resulted in fewer trips being made. FareCard revenues are below budget by $7.7 million,
while FareSaver revenues were within 0.2% of budget. There has been a noticeable increase (12%) in the
quantities of one zone FareSaver tickets purchased compared to the prior year, while the two zone and three zone
FareCard sales showed a marked decline. Given the weakened economy, it is likely that customers are opting for
FareSaver tickets, which do not have a monthly expiration, as an alternative to the monthly commitment of a
FareCard. Discounted pass programs exceeded budget by $2.5 million due to an increase in program participation
(Employer Pass Program and U‐Pass) and a newly negotiated rate for the Government Bus Pass Program. FareBox
cash revenues were also below budget by $8.1 million and West Coast Express fare revenues were $0.6 million
below budget.
TransLink Finance and Planning are working together to get a better understanding behind the decline in transit
revenue as compared to ridership trends, as well investigative work is under way to gain a better understanding of
the shift in customer behaviours and choices made on fare purchases, and ways to mitigate risk.
Advertising revenues were budgeted at $11.3 million and ended the year $1.1 million below budget, highlighting
the sensitivity of advertising revenues to a weak economy.

2.0

Tolling Fees ‐ $2.1 million Unfavourable

Tolling operations on the Golden Ears Bridge commenced in July 2009. Actual toll revenues were below budget
mainly due to the difference between actual traffic volumes experienced during the first six months of operations
compared to traffic forecasted by the traffic study.
A review to determine the reasons behind the variance between actual and forecasted traffic within the traffic
study is ongoing. The traffic study was prepared in 2004 and traffic volumes were based on projected population
levels in the communities surrounding the Golden Ears Bridge. (The traffic study assumed a ramp‐up in volumes
during the first few years of operation based on trends evidenced on other similar tolled infrastructure projects
around the world).
TransLink Finance will continue to monitor traffic volumes to determine trends and opportunities to increase
tolling revenues through marketing activities or other identified means.
3.0

Real Estate Revenues ‐ $15.0 million Unfavourable

At the time of the 2009 budget preparation, two surplus TransLink properties were deemed to be available for sale
in the 2009 fiscal year. Since that time, market conditions have changed with prices declining and quantity of
potential buyers limited. Economic forecasts have indicated that recovery will occur within the next two years. In
order to obtain the best monetary value from these properties, the marketing of these properties has been
delayed to post 2009.
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Taxation Revenues ‐ $3.4 million Unfavourable
4.1

Fuel Tax – $5.0 million Unfavourable

Results are below budget by ‐1.9%, with gasoline at ‐1.0% ($2.1 million) and diesel at ‐6.8% ($2.9 million). Gasoline
sales were strong in the summer months and this offset the general trend during the year to be in the 2% to 3%
range below budget. Diesel sales were below budget for the first nine months and this was offset to some extent
by stronger sales in the fall of 2009. The budget for diesel had anticipated an earlier recovery from the economic
downturn of 2008 and positive growth from construction for the Olympics.
On a year over year basis, total sales were 1.0% lower than 2008, with gasoline being the source of the decline.
Diesel sales were virtually the same as 2008.
Retail gasoline prices in Metro Vancouver started the year slightly above $0.90 per litre, peaked at $1.10 in June
and ended the year at approximately $0.98. Diesel prices started the year at $0.95 per litre, and remained
consistent during the year, ending at $0.99.
The following graph shows the downward trend of fuel sales. The ratio of gasoline to diesel sales has continued at
the 2008 ratio of 85% gasoline to 15% diesel.
Annual Moving Average Fuel Sales % Growth Trend

4.2

Property Tax – $927,000 Favourable

The budget allowance for adjustments from assessment appeals was not fully utilized and the net tax collected is
slightly higher than budget.
4.3

Parking Sales Tax ‐ $480,000 Favourable

The Province of B.C. and TransLink agreed on an annual review period for evaluation of revenue levels. The
variance is attributable to the revised revenue level provided by the Province (based on remittance information
from parking providers in the region).
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Replacement Tax – On Budget

Replacement tax rates were set in 2009 to collect the permitted $18.0 million from all allowable property classes.
4.5

Hydro Levy ‐ $145,000 Favourable

The hydro levy is a stable revenue source based on a long time static rate. Growth in actual revenue is tied to
general population growth with actual results greater than the budget estimates.

5.0

Interest Income ‐ $65,000 Unfavourable

This item includes interest earned on the debt reserve funds, short‐term investments and funds held in TransLink’s
bank account. The small unfavourable variance reflects the net effects of both higher than anticipated cash
balances and lower than budgeted interest rates.

Operating Expenditures
Total operating expenditures were $74.6 million below budget. Over 70% of the savings are in transit, with the
balance distributed among all other areas of the organization.
1.0

Roads and Bridges ‐ $3.1 million Favourable

1.1

Major Road Network – Operations, Maintenance & Rehabilitation ‐ $1.8 million Favourable

The Operation, Maintenance and Rehabilitation (OMR) funding rate for the Major Road Network (MRN) in 2009
was $13,250 per lane kilometre (lane‐km), a 2% “inflation” increase over 2008. Total spending in 2009 was less
than budgeted due to delays in the expected increases in MRN lane‐km. In addition, fewer rehabilitation projects
funded through the operations budget were completed in 2009 than planned due to challenges in obtaining
required staff, consultant and contractor resources.
1.2

Golden Ears Bridge ‐ $0.4 million Favourable

OMR costs were higher than budgeted as the bridge was opened a month ahead of schedule. Payments to the
tolling contractor were less than budgeted because the variable payments based on traffic volumes and
transactions processed were lower than expected. In addition, there were no safety improvements made by the
contractor requiring payment in 2009.
1.3

Albion Ferry ‐ $0.9 million Favourable

The Albion Ferry ceased operating on July 31. The favourable variance was mainly due to reduced fuel costs, and
minimal repairs and maintenance to the vessels. No suitable buyer for the vessels has been found at this time. As a
result, monthly insurance, security and maintenance costs totalling $29,000 monthly will be incurred until the
vessels are sold. TransLink continues to look for a suitable buyer and exploring other disposal alternatives.
2.0

Transit, TransLink and Transit Police ‐ $60.7 million Favourable

Sections 4 to 8 provide an overview of these areas’ financial results and select Key Performance Indicators.
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Interest Expenses ‐ $ 2.7 million Favourable

The favourable variance reflects the positive impact of reduced borrowings due to delays in capital spending. This
has been partially offset by less interest‐during‐construction being credited to capital than budgeted.
4.0

Depreciation ‐ $6.6 million Favourable

This item only includes the depreciation on assets with economic lives shorter than 10 years that have been
financed out of working capital (as opposed to long‐term debt). One reason for the favourable variance is that
some of the depreciation on short‐lived assets is offset by federal funding used to finance these assets. This offset
was not budgeted. As well, spending delays have resulted in lower capitalizations than budgeted.
5.0

Debt Repayments ‐ $2.7 million Favourable

Debt capital payments were favourable due to lower than budgeted long‐term borrowings. A fall borrowing of
$300 million was budgeted for; however, capital spending delays and the borrowing being partially replaced with
short‐term borrowings has reduced the debt repayments for three months (October to December) on this $300
million.
6.0

Golden Ears Bridge Capital Payments ‐ $1.1 million Unfavourable

The budget assumed a July 1, 2009 substantial completion date for the bridge versus an actual substantial
completion date of June 9, 2009, resulting in the accrual of an additional 21 days of capital payments.
7.0

Restructuring costs ‐ $3.1 million

Restructuring costs of $3.1 million were incurred as a result of an organization review process aimed at improving
organization alignment and driving further efficiencies. The organizational review process will continue into 2010.
8.0

Loss on Disposal ‐ $ 1.1 million

This represents the net book loss on disposal of transit vehicles.
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Capital
TransLink Projects

At the end of 2009, TransLink had 118 active projects with a total forecast cost of $2.1 billion. Thirty‐one projects
were initiated during the year, 56 projects were closed upon final completion and six were cancelled. The 2009
Capital Program included 16 projects of which 12 projects were given specific project approval in 2009, three were
cancelled as a result of the Funding Stabilization Plan approval and one will receive approval in 2010.
A summary by active project type follows:
2009 Active Projects by Classification Summary ($000's)

Description

PROJECTS WITH SPECIFIC PROJECT APPROVAL
Vehicles ‐ Conventional Revenue
Vehicles ‐ Other Revenue
Infrastructure
Facilities
Equipment
Technology Applications
Minor Capital Account
Major Construction Projects
TOTAL

2.0

Active
Projects

Original
Budget

Current
Budget

Actual
Cost to
Date

Forecast
Final
Cost

Expected
Surplus
(Deficit)

Total
Variance
(%)

16
2
50
9
6
14
18
3

762,900
8,020
539,160
104,898
77,459
12,154
8,905
551,692

825,543
8,020
545,921
97,909
82,468
13,686
9,830
571,780

686,806
6,658
226,871
64,607
54,067
5,315
2,200
530,756

761,344
6,848
522,638
90,755
82,805
12,959
8,537
574,400

64,199
1,172
23,282
7,154
(337)
727
1,293
(2,620)

7.8
14.6
4.3
7.3
(0.4)
5.3
13.2
(0.5)

94,870

4.4%

118 $

2,065,187 $ 2,155,157 $

1,577,282 $

2,060,287 $

Capital Funding to Municipalities

Capital funding to municipalities is an expenditure for financial statement reporting purposes. It is not shown on
the funding revenue and expenditure statement as the expenditure is financed by debt and is removed as a
funding adjustment. However, it is a significant component of TransLink’s finances and is included here.
Capital Funding to Municipalities is $24.9 million unfavourable to budget
The funding represents payment to municipalities to finance between 50% to 100% of the major and minor road
projects and bicycle infrastructure improvements. Spending is hard to predict as it depends on when the
respective municipality contracts for the work and the timing of the municipal invoicing. This is particularly
apparent with the minor capital funding, which was budgeted at $40.3 million compared to actual spending of $3
million.
Major road projects were also under budget, in particular Coast Meridian Overpass ($12.6 million under budget)
and Fraser Highway Widening ($11.6 million under budget). The main cause of the unfavourable variance was the
$90.5 million unbudgeted charge for the handover of the facilities on the Golden Ears Bridge project. Bicycle
infrastructure improvements were on budget, but $1.5 million was unbudgeted for Transit‐Related Road
Infrastructure Program (TRRIP) spending and $0.9 million in other unbudgeted spending on municipal projects
added to the overall unfavourable variance.
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5.4 Bus Division
Operating Expenditures
($000s)

2005
Actual

2006
Actual

2007
Actual

2008
Actual

2009
Actual

2009
Budget

Fav./
% Chg
(Unfav.) 2005‐2009

Annual
Coast Mountain Bus Operations
Operating Costs
Maintenance Costs
Indirect/Administration Costs
Subtotal
Fuel Costs
Amortization
Total

204,379
91,255
26,425
322,059
36,288
741
359,088

223,050
102,616
34,642
360,308
41,344
1,288
402,940

242,702
115,085
34,569
392,356
40,217
1,736
434,309

259,204
128,892
42,088
430,184
53,116
2,265
485,565

279,120
145,323
44,927
469,370
41,441
3,200
514,011

285,233
146,897
44,914
477,044
66,232
4,124
547,400

6,113
1,574
(13)
7,674
24,791
924
33,389

36.6%
59.2%
70.0%
45.7%
14.2%
331.8%
43.1%

Access Transit
Operating Costs
Maintenance Costs
Indirect/Administration Costs
Subtotal
Fuel Costs
Amortization
Total

15,879
1,245
6,571
23,695
1,789
‐
25,484

16,289
1,434
7,534
25,257
1,911
‐
27,168

17,407
1,548
9,213
28,168
2,072
‐
30,240

21,736
2,001
9,672
33,409
2,780
‐
36,189

23,066
2,480
13,280
38,826
1,576
‐
40,402

26,150
2,505
16,562
45,217
3,215
‐
48,432

3,084
25
3,282
6,391
1,639
‐
8,030

45.3%
99.2%
102.1%
63.9%
(11.9%)

Contracted Community Shuttle
Operating Costs
Maintenance Costs
Indirect/Administration Costs
Subtotal
Fuel Costs
Amortization
Total

1,356
235
362
1,953
354
‐
2,307

1,544
330
389
2,263
405
‐
2,668

1,696
493
419
2,608
416
‐
3,024

1,997
320
530
2,847
641
‐
3,488

2,525
454
645
3,624
557
‐
4,181

3,340
292
552
4,184
1,003
‐
5,187

815
(162)
(93)
560
446
‐
1,006

86.2%
93.2%
78.2%
85.6%
57.3%

West Vancouver
Operating Costs
Maintenance Costs
Indirect/Administration Costs
Subtotal
Fuel Costs
Amortization
Total

5,100
1,921
962
7,983
1,048
‐
9,031

5,451
2,279
996
8,726
1,206
‐
9,932

5,675
2,782
995
9,452
1,233
‐
10,685

6,361
2,374
892
9,627
1,733
‐
11,360

7,361
2,622
870
10,853
1,427
37
12,317

7,353
2,606
924
10,883
2,049
83
13,015

(8)
(16)
54
30
622
46
698

44.3%
36.5%
(9.6%)
36.0%
36.2%

395,910

442,708

478,258

536,602

570,911

614,034

43,123

44.2%

Bus Division

58.5%

81.2%

36.4%
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Key Performance Indicators
KPIs

CMBC
Delivered service hrs/scheduled
Operating cost per service hour
Overall performance rating
Mean distance between vehicle failures
Preventable collisions per million kms
Access Transit
Operating cost per service hour
Operating cost per boarded passenger
Contract Community Shuttle
Delivered service hrs/scheduled
Operating cost per service hour
West Vancouver
Delivered service hrs/scheduled
Operating cost per service hour
Service Hours
Conventional Bus
Community Shuttle
SeaBus
Total CMBC Operations
Access Transit
Contract Community Shuttle
West Vancouver
1

1

1

2005
Actual

2006
Actual

2007
Actual

2008
Actual

2009
Actual

Fav./
(Unfav.)

% Chg

% Chg
2005‐2009

99.52%
$ 94.29
7.4

99.30%
$ 99.78
7.4

99.10%
$ 102.04
7.4

99.52%
$ 108.34
7.4

99.85%
$ 108.93
7.5

0.33%
($ 0.58)
0.1

0.3%
‐0.5%
1.4%

0.3%
15.5%
1.4%

3,150

3,159

3,484

4,261

4,109

152

3.6%

30.4%

6.5

7.1

9.7

11.4

10.1

1.3

11.5%

54.5%

$ 50.88
$ 22.04

$ 52.30
$ 23.08

$ 55.10
$ 24.81

$ 61.09
$ 28.46

$ 78.38
$ 35.23

($ 17.29)
($ 6.77)

‐28.3%
‐23.8%

54.0%
59.8%

100.00%
$ 43.34

100.00%
$ 44.98

99.90%
$ 49.89

99.90%
$ 48.28

99.95%
$ 49.46

0.05%
($ 1.18)

0.1%
‐2.4%

0.0%
14.1%

99.97%
$ 85.92

99.68%
$ 92.12

99.71%
$ 92.71

99.56%
$ 95.26

99.83%
$ 92.75

0.27%
$ 2.51

0.3%
2.6%

‐0.1%
7.9%

3,525,980
271,850
10,495
3,808,326
500,911
53,214
105,114

3,657,700
369,943
10,470
4,038,113
519,480
59,326
107,813

3,840,003
405,451
10,679
4,256,133
548,858
60,615
115,250

4,028,944
442,093
10,681
4,481,718
592,433
72,233
119,245

4,241,928
466,262
10,647
4,718,837
515,435
84,539
132,803

212,984
24,169
(34)
237,119
(76,998)
12,306
13,558

5.3%
5.5%
‐0.3%
5.3%
‐13.0%
17.0%
11.4%

20.3%
71.5%
1.4%
23.9%
2.9%
58.9%
26.3%

Calculation of KPI changed in 2007

Highlights
2009 Expenditures
The 2009 actual expenditures for the total Bus Division are $570.9 million, $43.1 million under budget.
CMBC Operations
CMBC Operations delivered more than 237,000 additional service hours in 2009 versus 2008, the fourth straight
year with an increase of over 5% from the prior year. The year included service expansion early in the year
followed by changes for the opening of the Golden Ears Bridge, the wind up of route changes related to Canada
Line construction work, and the opening of the Canada Line. Service hours and kilometres were just slightly more
than budget due to the significant number of service changes in winter 2008 through 2009. The Canada Line
integration included service support changes in the call centre, customer relations, lost property and fare revenue
collection. Through 2009, more than 1,000 bus stop signs were replaced due to the service changes and re‐routes
from Canada Line, Golden Ears Bridge and other construction activities. The decrease reported in mean distance
between failures versus 2008 is a result of performing road calls on electronic fareboxes and additional road calls
for the new TMAC bus radio communication system.
The majority of expenditures were within budget due to general economic factors and controls on discretionary
spending and support staff hiring. The largest contributor to the favourable budget variance was diesel fuel costs
of $24.5 million resulting from the fall in market prices in late 2008 that carried through 2009. Insurance costs
were $1.2 million favourable due to a combination of a rate reduction and an ICBC rebate of $477,000. Labour
costs were lower than budget by $6.8 million as the result of lower operator overtime and training requirements,
higher maintenance warranty recoveries and the cost containment control on hiring support positions.
Administration costs included two significant one‐time variances, $1.3 million for superannuation due to the April
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2009 rate increase and the higher than budgeted average earnings and $500,000 for the write‐off of a BC Transit
sick leave deposit payment.

Access Transit and Contract Services
Access Transit’s costs were $8.0 million lower than budget due primarily to the under delivery of service hours (a
savings of $4.0 million) and lower contract indirect costs of $1.0 million resulting from the HandyDART work
stoppage. Lower diesel fuel costs of $1.6 million were a result of the market prices and the reduced annual service.
During the work stoppage, HandyDART provided only essential service trips, which equals 12‐13% of normal
service levels. Approximately 99,000 less service hours were delivered during this time.
In order to increase service quality and provide efficiency improvements to the new single HandyDART contractor,
MVT Canadian Bus Inc incurred one‐time costs, including establishing a new centralized call center, implementing a
new Interactive Voice Recognition (IVR) system, installing Mobile Data Terminals (MDTs) on the fleet and creating
a maintenance facility for the North of Fraser operating area. The changeover included Access Transit taking over
the administrative duties for HandyDART registration and the sale of TaxiSavers from the contractors. These one‐
time costs will be offset by long term savings and improved customer care.
Contract Community Shuttle costs were $1.0 million lower than budget due to the cancellation of the planned fall
service expansion in Langley budgeted at 11,900 service hours and the lower diesel fuel costs.
West Vancouver service levels were on plan and costs were $0.7 million lower than budget due mainly to lower
diesel fuel costs.

2005‐2009 Trend

CMBC Operations
Service hours delivered has increased by more than 910,000 hours or 24% from 2005 to 2009 with conventional
bus growing 20% and community shuttle by 72%. Service kilometres have increased at a slightly greater rate of
26% overall with conventional bus at 22% and community shuttle at 63%. Operating expenditures have increased
43% from 2005 to 2009. Of the $155 million increase, service expansion accounts for approximately half. Labour
economic and contractual increases, including employer paid benefits, for operating and support staff account for
approximately 26% of the expenditure increase. General inflation on items excluding labour costs, fuel and
insurance account for another 4%.
Total diesel fuel expenditure has risen from 2005 to 2009 by $2.5 million or 8%, including $1.4 million in 2009 for
the annual effect of the B.C. carbon fuel tax. Over this same time period diesel fuel consumption has increased 4.8
million litres or 12% from the service expansion increasing costs by $7.0 million; this is offset by the increase in fuel
efficient vehicles, reducing costs by $2.9 million. Diesel fuel market prices have fluctuated up and down
significantly year over year from 2005 to 2009, and the impact of the fuel price has lowered costs by $1.6 million.
In 2009, the average price paid per litre for diesel was $0.33 lower than in 2008 when the price peaked.
Service expansion and the associated operator, trade and front line support staffing along with new bus
technologies have impacted operations, service support, fleet maintenance, infrastructure management and
support areas including human resources, training, payroll, customer information and business technologies.
Operating cost per service hour increases are driven by factors other than just service hour expansion, labour and
general economic increases. These factors include depot and facility capacity constraints, the resource
requirements for the shared services CMBC provides for the TransLink family, and skilled maintenance resources to
implement and maintain new bus equipment such as new trolley and hybrid technologies, TMAC radio
communications, GPS, on‐bus cameras, power mirrors, bicycle racks, enunciators, and power ramps and other
accessibility features. Other expenditure increases are the result of transfers to CMBC from TransLink of security
services and procurement functions in 2005 and TRRIP in 2008. Amortization costs have increased substantially
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with the growth of the CMBC subsidiary capital spending program from $1.0 million in capital in 2005 to over $10.0
million in 2009. In 2006, the new transit centre in Vancouver opened, and the Oakridge Transit Centre was
decommissioned and then brought back into service in 2008 due to facility capacity constraints.

Access Transit and Contract Services
Access Transit costs increased $14.9 million for the period 2005 to 2009. HandyDART service hours had increased
18% to the end of 2008. Service was to increase in 2009 to 26%; however, the actual service delivered was
reduced due to the operators’ work stoppage. From 2005 to 2008 the HandyDART service was provided by seven
different contractors in eight separate contract areas with three different labour unions and five collective
agreements. The main increase for HandyDART service costs relates to the start‐up costs for establishing new
technologies, facilities and standardized operating procedures. This increase follows the award of the entire
HandyDART service to a single contractor in late 2008 to increase the availability and effectiveness of custom
transit and provide better customer support. Other factors in the overall cost increase are contracted wage
increases, general inflation for goods and services and infrastructure improvements.
Contract Community Shuttle expenditure increases over this period were $1.9 million, of which the majority was
due to service expansion and contracted wage increases. Service hours have increased 59% from 2005 to 2009,
with a 17% increase from 2008 to 2009, including the new Tsawwassen service in late 2008.
West Vancouver expenditures increased $3.3 million over this period due to service expansion, contractual wage
increases and increased maintenance costs due to the fleet age and a diesel emission reduction initiative and aging
infrastructure. Service hours have increased 26% over the period with an 11% increase in 2009 over 2008 for new
service to Capilano University and for improved ferry connections at Horseshoe Bay.
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Rail Division

Annual Operating Expenditures
(,000s)
SkyTrain ‐ Expo & Millennium Line

2005

2006

2007

Operations Costs

19,361

20,251

21,666

22,750

Maintenance Costs

35,438

37,303

38,826

42,238

Indirect/Admin Costs
Sub‐total

2009
Actual

2008

2009
Budget

Fav./
(Unfav.)

% Chg.
2005‐2009

23,557

23,234

(323)

21.7%

44,322

45,078

756

25.1%

4,343

4,696

4,997

6,292

7,365

6,836

(530)

69.6%

59,142

62,249

65,489

71,280

75,244

75,148

(96)

27.2%

Electricity

7,308

7,570

7,550

8,000

8,577

9,875

1,298

17.4%

Post Employee Benefits

2,792

3,244

3,286

3,332

2,428

3,640

1,212

‐13.0%

Retail Revenue
Amortization
Total

‐

‐

(159)

(218)

(369)

(421)

(52)

46

72

95

129

146

250

104

218.5%

69,287

73,135

76,262

82,523

86,026

88,492

2,466

24.2%

8,484

8,565

8,871

9,472

9,960

9,856

(104)

17.4%

West Coast Express
Operations Costs
Maintenance Costs

3,352

3,407

3,584

3,733

4,015

4,204

189

19.8%

Indirect/Admin Costs

1,925

2,082

2,072

2,236

2,248

2,404

156

16.8%

13,761

14,054

14,527

15,441

16,223

16,464

241

17.9%

12

25

37

36

34

68

34

182.1%

Sub‐total
Amortization
Fuel

785

856

919

1,190

808

1,560

752

3.0%

14,558

14,935

15,483

16,667

17,065

18,092

1,027

17.2%

‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
161

‐
197
498

‐
184
728

‐
(13)
229

Sub‐total
‐
Payments to Canada Line
‐
Total
‐
* The Canada Line began revenue service in August 2009.

‐
‐
‐

‐
‐
‐

161
‐
161

696
31,003
31,699

912
32,881
33,793

216
1,878
2,094

Total
Canada Line
Operations Costs
Maintenance Costs
Indirect Costs

Key Performance Indicators

KPIs
SkyTrain ‐ Expo & Millennium Line
Mystery Shopper ‐ overall score *
Perception of security ‐ onboard and at stations
Major injuries per million boarded passengers
Lost time frequency index per 200,000 hours
Percentage of service plan delivered
On‐time performance (within 2 minutes)
Operating cost per vehicle km
West Coast Express
Overall customer satisfaction ‐ Mystery shopper
Perception of security ‐ onboard and at stations
Major injuries per million boarded passengers
Lost time frequency index per 200,00 hrs.
On‐time performance (within 5 minutes)
Spare ratio
Percentage of service plan delivered
Net operating cost per passenger km
* The Mystery Shopper program began in November 2005.

Fav./
(Unfav.)

% Var

% Chg.
2005‐2009

4.8%
0.1
‐0.18
0.93
0.2%
0.6%
$0.004

4.8%
2.0%
‐16.8%
23.5%
0.2%
0.6%
0.2%

5.3%
‐4.3%
8.0%
‐39.5%
‐0.1%
0.7%
21.1%

87.3%
87.8%
86.4%
84.8%
85.9%
1.1%
9.2
9.2
9.2
9.1
9.0
‐0.1
3.80
3.02
0.79
0.37
0.00
0.37
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
0.00
97.89%
97.12%
96.41%
97.68%
97.92%
0.2%
5.4%
2.7%
2.7%
2.7%
2.7%
0.0%
99.87%
99.94%
99.86%
99.65%
99.95%
0.30%
$0.054
$0.036
$0.024
$0.015
$0.025
‐$0.010
The 2005 figure is an average of November and December only.

1.1%
‐1.1%
100.0%
0.0%
0.2%
0.0%
0.3%
‐66.7%

‐1.6%
‐2.2%
‐100.0%

2005

2006

2007

86.3%
7.6
1.19
5.00
99.60%
94.61%
$1.812

89.3%
7.4
1.18
2.14
99.45%
94.12%
$1.943

86.5%
7.2
1.15
2.56
99.33%
94.00%
$2.049

2008 2009 Actual

86.1%
7.1
1.10
3.95
99.32%
94.70%
$2.198

90.9%
7.3
1.29
3.02
99.54%
95.26%
$2.194

0.0%
‐50.0%
0.1%
‐53.7%
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SkyTrain – Expo and Millennium Lines
Highlights
SkyTrain ended December 2009 $2.5 million under budget. Of this, $1.2 million was due to a favourable variance in
Employee Future Benefits due to a higher corporate bond yield than used at the time of the original estimate.
Hydro costs were $1.3 million below budget due to the delay in delivery of the new MKII vehicles, which translated
into fewer revenue kilometres and reduced power costs; and a credit from BC Hydro for a rate increase that had
been charged but not approved by the BC Utilities Commission. Cost recoveries from Bombardier for post‐delivery
assistance has also helped in the overall underrun by enabling us to advance some 2010 maintenance projects into
2009.
Trends
Financial
The expected addition of 48 new MKII cars to the fleet throughout 2009 increased the annual base budget by $2.4
million over 2008, and the Operations and Maintenance Centre expansion completed in June 2009 created the
extra space needed for vehicle maintenance, warehouse and office space for the new cars and future expansion.
BC Rapid Transit Company’s (BCRTC) continued focus on the renewed strategic direction to leverage its assets to
generate $5 million cumulative in new revenues by 2014 is heading in the right direction. In its first year, almost
$700,000 of new revenue and cost recoveries has been generated, mainly from retail activities at stations and
recoveries from testing and commissioning of the new MKII cars.
Key Performance Indicators
BCRTC’s mystery shopping program was implemented in late 2005. Recent program changes have been made and
emphasis has been placed on customer service with a new training program for all employees that began in 2009
and continues into 2010. Early results were evident in the increase in ratings.
The perception of security on SkyTrain is also moving in a positive direction. The 2009 results have surpassed
annual results seen since 2006. The change in perception is a result of a variety of changes that have been made
on the system, including lighting upgrades, enhancements to the public announcement system and dedicated
SkyTrain attendant presence at Surrey Central, New Westminster, Commercial/Broadway and Main Street stations.
Although major passenger injuries were up in 2009, a trend has not been identified. The most common cause of
injury continues to be escalator/stair falls and slipping on platforms.
As expected, the 2009 lost time frequency indicator showed significant improvement over the 2008 results. The
2008 figures included several injuries that were the result of motor vehicle accidents that were not the fault of
employees.
In addition to delivering more than 99% of the scheduled train kilometres, BCRTC passengers experienced an on‐
time performance that exceeds the 10 year average. This performance was achieved even while 48 new MKII
vehicles were being tested and put into service. The improvement in on‐time performance is a result of active and
ongoing review of the delays and promoting the importance of keeping the system running.
The 2009 operating cost per vehicle kilometre remains unchanged from 2008.
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Canada Line
Highlights
Canada Line has been in revenue service since August 2009. The costs for 2009 are under budget by approximately
$2.1 million primarily due to lower than expected costs for special events and contingencies for the payments to
InTransit BC to operate the system. The delay in hiring and the savings from professional and legal fees also
contributed to the overall underrun.
Trends
Financial
BCRTC administers the management of the concessionaire agreement for the revenue operations of Canada Line
between SCBCTA and InTransit BC. Revenue service began in August 2009 with a 5‐month budget of $3.3M.
Canada Line is still in its infancy and trends may not develop until after one full year of operations.

West Coast Express
Highlights
In 2009, West Coast Express (WCE) ended the year with expenditures below budget by $1.03 million, or 5.7%.
Lower than budgeted fuel costs resulted in $752,000 of the savings (2009 actual: $0.69 per litre; 2009 budget:
$1.30 per litre). Maintenance costs were offset due to negotiated labour rates with VIA and reduced incidents of
unscheduled work resulting in savings of $189,000. The remaining savings were attributed to cost management in
customer service and administration.
WCE fare revenue is captured and reported in the revenue section of the statement of revenues and expenditures.
It forms an important component of WCE performance metrics and is worthy of discussion here.
Total revenue for 2009 was $523,000, or ‐3.4% lower than budget. Boarded passengers decreased by
‐2.3% below target, and totalled 2.62 million with the average daily ridership above 10,300. Ridership was below
target due to the affects of the economic downturn, lower gas prices compared to 2008, and overcrowding on the
trains.
Trends
Financial
WCE revenue has grown 36.4% from 2005. Ridership is consistent year over year and strong fare revenue. In 2009,
ridership was ‐2.3% lower than budget; however, the budget was based on 2008 actual of 2.68 million which was
higher than normal ridership due to the extremely high fuel costs in that year. Aside from the comparison to 2008,
2.62 million passengers in 2009 is the second highest ridership count in history. The average fare per passenger
was $5.43 in 2009, $5.44 in 2008 and $5.00 in 2005.
Expenditures grew by 2.4% in 2009 versus 2008. The increase is attributed to rolling stock maintenance, station
repairs, and TrainBus service expansion costs.
In spite of the additional operating costs in 2009, through effective cost management, a net cost recovery of 86.3%
was achieved while the cost recovery in 2005 was 75.6%.
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Key Performance Indicators
Overall Mystery Shopping customer satisfaction rating is up 1.1% over 2008, which is positive as this indicator has
been declining since 2006. The key attributes which are impacting the declining trend are overcrowding on the
trains and value for money, which had shown a noticeable decline since the fare increase in 2008. The
announcement of seven additional WCE train cars to be in service 2010 has made a noticeable improvement in
customer satisfaction.
There were no major passenger injuries per one million boarded passengers in 2009 versus one in 2008.
On‐time performance was 97.9% and has improved over 2008. The ongoing work with Canadian Pacific Rail has
minimized delays.
There is an increase in net operating cost per passenger kilometre in 2009. This is mainly due to the decrease in
ridership and small increase in operating costs. It is still considered one of the top financial performers of all
commuter rail operations in North America.
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PROPERTY TAX, RENTALS, FARE MEDIA AND INSURANCE

Operating Expenditures
(,000's)
Annual
Property Tax
Rentals
Fare Media
Insurance

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009
Actual

2009
Budget

Fav./
% Chg
(Unfav.) 2005‐2009

6,951
11,522
2,222
4,258

8,369
12,635
2,328
4,319

7,264
13,287
2,216
4,390

7,306
14,642
2,303
4,370

6,119
16,392
2,470
5,617

8,520
16,677
3,106
6,218

2,401
285
636
601

‐12.0%
42.3%
11.2%
31.9%

24,953

27,651

27,157

28,621

30,598

34,521

3,923

22.6%

Highlights
The $2.4 million decrease in property tax is the result of successfully appealing the property tax assessment for the
Vancouver Transit Centre. This reassessment is retroactive to the opening of the facility in 2006. With the new bus
communication system installed at CMBC, the budget has now been transferred to the subsidiary, resulting in a
favourable $285,000 variance for rentals in 2009. Fare media costs are below budget by $636,000. Fare Media
costs were favourable in 2009, due to continued focus on product costs, more precision on quantities required and
continued review of vendors. Administration fees and lost pass fees, relating to TransLink’s Employer Pass Program
have significantly increased offsetting some of the savings.
Insurance costs on the Canada Line were below budget by $400,000 after developing more specific requirements
and negotiating a rate that was lower than originally expected. The balance of decrease in insurance was due to
the delivery of new SkyTrain cars being postponed into 2010.
Trends
With the reassessment of the Vancouver Transit Centre, and previously the BCRTC Maintenance Facility, annual
property tax costs have been reduced by $ 2.4 million. The TransLink Properties Management department
continues to appeal assessments on a regular basis.
Fair media costs are continually being renegotiated resulting in the lowest possible cost available. Costs over the
last four years have remained within inflationary boundaries, only increasing due to volume.
Increases in insurance costs for liability and property continue to be held below inflation since 2005.
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TRANSLINK

Operating Expenditures
(000's)

2005

2006

2007

2008

Board, Mayors' Council,
Corporate (Divisions and general)
Real Estate Holding Costs
Studies
Other One‐Time projects
ITS ‐ Roadway Operations

319
23,068

365
28,129

508
30,201

1,655
36,529

4,620

2,643
4,084

1,791
2,636

13,697
1,509

Total

28,007

35,221

35,136

53,390

2009
2009
Fav./
% Chg
Actual Budget (Unfav.) 2005‐2009
1,621
37,544
517
6,222
2,053
338

1,831
44,938
1,180
3,439
2,892
380

210
7,394
663
(2,783)
839
42

408.2%
62.8%

48,295

54,660

6,365

72.4%

‐55.6%

Highlights
In 2009, TransLink accomplished a savings of $6.4 million (11.6%). In addition, in 2009 TransLink developed and
gained the approval of the 2010 Funding Stabilization Plan, supported the integration of the Canada Line and
Golden Ears Bridge, and prepared to implement and support the 2010 Olympic transportation plan.
Board, Mayor’s Council and Commissioner expenditures were under budget by $210,000, primarily due to lower
than budgeted costs for the Commissioner.
Corporate (Divisions and General) were $7.4 million (16.5%) under budget for TransLink. This was achieved by
delays in filling 40.5 positions, and continued corporate‐wide cost containment strategies. Due to other corporate
priorities such as the development of the 10‐Year Transportation and Financial Plan, Golden Ears Bridge marketing
and to avoid conflicts with the Canada Line and the Olympic timelines, many planned TransLink initiatives were
delayed, scaled back or cancelled in 2009. Some of these projects include: 2009 Transportation Model Update and
Calibration, Goods Movement Strategic Studies, Real Estate studies, Fare Review Project, Infrastructure Guidelines,
Area Transportation Plans, Training and Exercises for TransLink Emergency Co‐ordination Centre and the
Management/Leadership Development initiative. Cost containment initiatives include reductions in training
expenditures, travel and meeting expenses, office renovations, and reduced corporate sponsorships, market
research and general administration expenditures.
Real Estate Holding Costs came in under budget by $663,000. This was due to fewer properties being held than
anticipated and as a result, the actual property taxes were lower than what was budgeted.
Studies were over budget by $2.8 million. This was due to costs incurred for 2009 10‐year plan and consultation
and development ($3.0 million) offset by less than expected costs incurred for rapid transit studies of $0.2 million.
Other one‐time projects were under budget by $839,000. There were delays to re‐install trolley overhead lines in
2009, which were taken down to accommodate Canada Line construction. This under‐spending of $927,000 is now
included in the 2010 budget. An additional $207,000 was required to promote TravelSmart and provided added
signage in the new Canada Line stations. Costs of $298,000 for the Golden Ears Bridge awareness campaign were
not budgeted. A budgeted contingency of $400,000 was also not spent.

Page 41 of 96

South Coast British Columbia Transportation Authority ‐ 2009 Statutory Annual Report

March, 2010

Trends
Given funding uncertainty during 2009, cost containment strategies were implemented. While the Funding
Stabilization Plan has been approved, TransLink is committed to improving its financial position, focusing on cost
containment initiatives and determining and delivering core services.
TransLink corporate has increased $1 million (2.8%) over 2008. This increase was a net result of staff salary
increases and a reduction in discretionary spending. Studies have decreased by $7.5 million from 2009 mainly due
to $7.9 million of Evergreen Line Feasibility Studies written off in 2008. Board, Mayors’ Council and Commissioner
costs have stabilized with the full implementation of the new governance structure. In total, TransLink costs are $5
million (9.5%) lower than 2008 reversing the 2005‐2008 trends of average increases of 25% per year.
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5.8 TRANSIT POLICE
Operating Expenditures
(,000's)
Annual
Transit Police
FTE's

2005

2006

2007

2008

11,517

12,849

17,900

22,051

26,767

28,430

123

151

188

222

237

95

2009
2009
Fav./
% Chg
Actual Budget (Unfav.) 2005‐2009
1,663

132.4%

Highlights
Transit Police was $1.7 million or 6% under budget for 2009. Savings of $1.9 million in salary costs were realized
due to unfilled positions, hiring delays, overtime costs being less than budgeted and a number of staff being on
income continuance. Offsetting the salary savings were additional expenditures for outside services and
telecommunication costs.
2009 costs increased by 21% from the prior year. A majority of the increase is related to additional staffing costs
for the expansion of Transit Police infrastructure, capacity and staffing requirements for the Canada Line. The bulk
of the remaining $1.78 million relates to renovation costs of the existing facilities and the costs associated with the
opening of the Bridgeport office to provide policing services to the Canada Line.

Total fulltime equivalents (FTE) increased by 127 from 2005 to 2009. Of the total increase, 55 FTE were for
constables and civilian support staff needed specifically for the Canada Line operations, and the remaining 72 FTE
were required to build Transit Police’s service capacity to meet future policing demands.
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PACIFIC VEHICLE TESTING TECHNOLOGIES (AIRCARE)

Operating Revenue & Expenditures

2005

2006

2007

2008

(,000's)

2009

2009

Actual

Budget

Fav./

% Chg

(Unfav.) 2005‐2009

Annual
Revenue

26,653

Expenditures

21,278

15,975

19,037

17,497

18,190

(693)

‐34.4%

27,386

26,210

17,360

17,738

18,211

18,989

778

‐33.5%

Surplus/(Deficit)

(733)

(4,932)

(1,385)

1,299

(714)

(799)

85

‐2.6%

Cumulative Surplus/(Deficit)

4,596

(335)

(1,720)

(421)

(1,135)

(1,220)

85

Highlights
For 2009, AirCare had a deficit of $0.7 million compared to the budgeted $0.8 million deficit. Under the South
Coast British Columbia Transportation Authority Act, the AirCare program must recover all of its costs, including
annualized capital costs over the five‐year contract period. Surpluses and deficits may occur in any one‐year.
Revenue is $0.7 million below the projected budget, due to fewer $45 inspections in the mix. Total expenditures
were $0.8 million below budget. The majority of this favourable variance is the result of administration cost saving
and a delay in spending AirCare capital thereby reducing depreciation costs.
Trends
Revenues have decreased by $9.2 million (268,569 tests) from 2005, as a result of the increased (seven‐model
year) exemption for new vehicles and the fee reduction from $47 to $45 for the biennial test. It is important to
note that as the proportion of the AirCare‐eligible fleet that is subject to annual testing decreases, the annual test
volume is increasingly subject to fluctuations due to the timing of inspections for vehicles subject to the biennial
test.
Expenses have decreased by $9.2 million from 2005 reflecting a decrease in contractor monthly fees. Factors such
as the reduction of the test network from 12 test centres and 42 test lanes to 10 test centres and 32 test lanes,
plus a decrease in equipment and labour costs account for most of this reduction.
It is anticipated that the current $1.1 million cumulative deficit will be eliminated by the time that the current
contract ends in 2011
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APPENDIX 1: FINANCIAL RESULTS
TransLink (Excluding AirCare)
2009 Revenue and Expenditures
(On a Funding Basis)
$000's
2008
Actual

2009
Actual

2009
Budget

Fav./
(Unfav.)

Revenues
Transit
Golden Ears Bridge Tolls
Real Estate
Taxation
Fuel
Property
Hydro Levy
Parking Sales
Replacement Tax
Total Taxation
Interest Income
Senior Government Contributions

359,911
‐
‐
‐
262,298
255,741
17,913
15,400
8,758
560,110
6,479

366,735
11,293
33

381,322
13,430
15,000

(14,587)
‐3.8%
(2,137) ‐15.9%
(14,967) ‐100.0%

259,820
264,092
18,245
15,600
17,995
575,752
1,722
7,496

264,800
263,165
18,100
15,120
18,000
579,185
1,787
7,000

(4,980)
927
145
480
(5)
(3,433)
(65)
496

‐1.9%
0.4%
0.8%
3.2%
0.0%
‐0.6%
‐3.6%
7.1%

Total Revenues

926,500

963,031

997,724

(34,693)

‐3.5%

31,154
‐
6,318
37,472

31,318
6,145
6,152
43,615

33,129
6,533
7,033
46,695

1,811
388
881
3,080

5.5%
5.9%
12.5%
6.6%

485,565
36,189
14,847
536,601

514,011
40,402
16,498
570,911

547,400
48,433
18,201
614,034

33,389
8,031
1,703
43,123

6.1%
16.6%
9.4%
7.0%

82,902
16,667
‐
99,569
28,622

86,395
17,065
31,699
135,159
30,598

88,913
18,092
33,793
140,798
34,521

2,518
1,027
2,094
5,639
3,923

2.8%
5.7%
6.2%
4.0%
11.4%

Total Transit
TransLink
Transit Police
Interest Expense
Depreciation Expense
Debt Repayment
GEB Capital Payments

664,792
53,208
22,051
63,414
5,679
70,491
‐

736,668
48,295
26,767
78,140
8,854
79,410
4,393

789,353
54,660
28,430
80,794
15,439
82,102
3,302

52,685
6,365
1,663
2,654
6,585
2,692
(1,091)

6.7%
11.6%
5.8%
3.3%
42.7%
3.3%
‐33.0%

Total Operating Expenditures

917,107

1,026,142

1,100,775

74,633

6.8%

9,393

(63,111)

(103,051)

39,940

38.8%

($ thousands)

Expenditures
Roads & Bridges
Major Road Network Operations
Golden Ears Bridge Operations
Albion Ferry
Total Roads & Bridges
Transit
Bus Division
Coast Mountain Bus Company
Access Transit
Other Contractors
Total Bus Division
Rail Division
Expo & Millenium Lines
West Coast Express Commuter Rail
Canada Line *
Total Rail Division
Property tax, rentals, fare media & insurance

Annual Surplus/(Deficit) before other items

%

Other items
Re‐Structuring Costs
Loss on disposal of capital assets
Annual Surplus/(Deficit)

‐

3,111

1,232

1,120

8,161

(67,342)

(3,111)
‐

(1,120)

‐

(103,051)

35,709

34.7%

Cumulative Funded Surplus
379,620
312,279
268,278
* Payment to the concessionaire covers its operating expenditures and capital repayments

44,001

16.4%
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APPENDIX 2: RECONCILIATION: AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS GENERAL FUND
WITH REVENUE AND EXPENDITURE REPORT
Year Ending December 31, 2009

Reconciliation : Audited Financial Statements with SCBCTA Act, Section 7(7)
The purpose of this schedule is to provide a reconciliation between Excess revenue over expenses
as reported in accordance with GAAP and accumulative surpluses in accordance with the SCBCTA Act
($000)
Per Reports

Notes

Consolidated Statement of Operations:
Excess revenue over expenses, General Fund

115,746

Adjustments:
Net interest on debt, Capital Fund
Amortization of capital assets, Capital Fund

B
(59,506)
(119,973)

Amortization of deferred Concessionaire credit

(9,053)

Loss on disposal of capital assets, Capital Fund

(1,120)

Remove effect of TPCC

899

Administrative costs on capital contributions

267

Amortization in excess of Debt Repayment

(Deficit) Surplus per Revenue and Expenditure Report

A

5,398

C

D

(67,342)

Notes
A
B
C
D

As reported in Consolidated Statement of Operations (Audited)
These adjustments are required to arrive at the operational revenue and expense in accordance with the SCBCTA Act
TPCC net income/loss is not a determinant of accumulated surplus
The Revenue and Expenditure Report reflects Debt Repayment but does not reflect Amortization
for assets funded by long-term debt or the government.
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Transportation Demand Management
The following table compares the transportation demand management objectives that were set for 2009
to actual results:
Objectives

Results

Employer Pass Program (EPP)
Increase number of companies and participants by
10% and train all new coordinators.

As of year‐end, 276 companies and 20,869 passholders, a 4%
increase over 2008. Attendance by staff at 10 training sessions
including user testing and four EPP training sessions for
coordinators.

Ride‐Sharing and TransLink Ride‐Share Week (TRSW)
Double new ride‐share registrants.
Increase number of ride‐share groups.
Double number of employer‐branded websites.
Secure over 100 TRSW coordinators.

1,700 new ride‐share registrants (89% increase over 2008).
160 new ride‐share groups (60% increase over 2008).
30 new company sub‐sites (50% increase over 2008).
150 TRSW coordinators.

Active Transportation /Bike to Work Week (BTWW)
Active Transportation/Bike to Work Week.

8,594 registrants (2% increase over 2008).

Double participation rate of BTWW 2009 over
2008 as part of ongoing efforts to increase cycling
mode‐share in Metro Vancouver.

1,648 registered workplaces (10% increase over 2008).
1,059 new commuter cyclists (1838 in 2008)
61 commuter stations (17% increase over 2008)
25,439 commutes logged (‐30% from 2008)

Telework
Develop pilot program; implement pilot and invite
company participation in pilot or in case studies to
promote as viable commuting option, particularly
during the Olympics.

Pilot completed; final report to participating companies and
debrief meeting. Re‐vamped all telework materials for website
for Olympic outreach.

Transportation Management Association (TMA)
Continue to work with current and new TMAs
when opportunities arise.

Cambie Corridor, Tilbury, Crestwood, and Glenlyon all active
TMAs. All have ridesharing portals and participate in EPP. TDM
staff attends all meetings.

Car Sharing
Continue to promote car sharing as alternative to
car ownership and use of sustainable
transportation for most trips.

We continue to promote car sharing as an alternative to
ownership. Facilitated special offer to EPP clients from ZipCar
and sponsored ZipCar low car diet.

TravelSmart Relationship ‐ Management/Ongoing Promotion of TravelSmart program
Presentations to current and new clients to
support EPP and all programs aimed at reducing
single‐occupant vehicle use and promote shift to
more sustainable mode.

Aside from Olympics/Schools and Canada Line outreach, 28
TravelSmart presentations made (in addition to Olympic and
Canada Line outreach), including attendance at transportation
fairs, participation in EPIC and a variety of other meetings
throughout the year to maintain relationships with key
companies, partners and TMA’s.

Vancouver 2010 Olympics
Responsible for preparation of Olympic
Transportation Demand Management (TDM) plan
(integrated Whistler/Vancouver Plan).

Plan finalized, delivered to partners, followed by
implementation. 137 presentations made by TDM department,
including one on one and group sessions, delivery of
TravelSmart to Schools program to 11 schools; and outreach to
4 community associations. Plan received well. Indications are
that goal of 30% reduction in vehicle traffic in downtown core
will be achieved during Games time.

Scrap‐It
Program to get older vehicles off the road and
reduce GHGs.

Transitional year for the program. 10,446 vehicles scrapped;
1,853 transit passes issued.
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TravelSmart
Soft re‐branding of OnBoard initiatives under
TravelSmart umbrella.

Re‐design of TDM materials with TravelSmart brand in
conjunction with the Corporate Marketing team. All TDM
programs now branded TravelSmart. With Olympic outreach,
this brand has become very well known and synonymous with
sustainable travel.

LiveSmart
Partner with Alternative Energy Policy Branch
(provincial) to include TravelSmart information and
transit ticket as part of provincial LiveSmart Low
Carbon Lifestyle program.

Completed program with LiveSmart. 10,00 households
received TravelSmart information with homeowner packages.
Government cancelled program during 2009.

Park and Ride
Review and renew 27 ride‐share parking spaces at
Scott Road Park and Ride.

Completed in 2009. New signage installed to deter non‐
registered rideshare groups. Security monitors on a regular
basis. New permits will be provided to authorized rideshare
groups in 2010 (Permits now issued every 18 months)

Canada Line
Prepare TravelSmart outreach plan for businesses
at select stations along the Canada Line starting
September 2009.

Materials developed for Canada Line outreach. Outreach
commenced in August. Fifty companies contacted and 15
presentations made.

Committees
Serve on Board of Cambie Corridor Consortium
and Regional Clean Air Communications Meeting.

TDM department contributed to and attended meetings
throughout the year. TransLink is a board member.
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Short‐term Fares Assessed

Short‐term fares for bus, SeaBus, SkyTrain and HandyDart are shown in the table below.
Fare
Type

Status
Adult

Cash
Concession
FareSavers
(10 tickets)
DayPass

Adult
Concession
Adult
Concession

Within
1‐Zone

Time

Within
2‐Zones

$2.50

Regular
Off‐Peak
Regular
Off‐Peak

Within
3‐Zones

$3.75
All Zones ‐ $2.50
$2.50
All Zones ‐ $1.75
$28.50
All Zones – $16.00
$9.00 – valid all zones
$7.00 – valid all zones

$1.75
$19.00

No restrictions

$5.00
$3.50
$38.00

West Coast Express operates on a different fare structure than other transit service.
Short‐term fares for West Coast Express are shown in the table below.
Fare
Type
One‐way Ticket
Return Ticket

Status
Adult
Concession
Adult
Concession

Within
1‐zone

Within
2‐zones
$5.00
$3.00
$9.50
$5.75

Within
3‐zones

Within
4‐zones

Within
5‐zones

$6.75
$4.00
$12.50
$7.50

$8.25
$5.00
$15.50
$9.60

$11.25
$7.00
$21.00
$13.25
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Long term borrowing – TransLink
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During the year TransLink made two long‐term loan issues via the Municipal Finance Authority of BC (MFA). The
terms of these issues are summarized below.
Issue No. 105 (New Debt)
Amount
Coupon
Borrowed
Rate (Note
(Note 1)
2)
$150,000,000

4.90%

Amortization
Period

20 Years

Issue Date: April 21, 2009
Maturity Date
Semi‐Annual
Interest
Payments (Note
3)
03‐Jun‐2029
$3,675,000

Annual Sinking
Fund Payments
(Note 4)
$5,037,263

Note 1: A mortgage has been granted to the MFA over three surplus properties as security for this loan.
Note 2: Coupon rate fixed to June 3, 2019 only.
Note 3: Due semi‐annually on June 3 and December 3. First payment of $4,540,890 due December 3, 2009.
Note 4: Due annually on June 3. First payment due June 3, 2010.
Issue No. 106 (Refinancing of Issue 712)
Amount
Coupon
Amortization
Borrowed
Rate (Note
Period
1)
$15,600,000

4.13%

8 Years

Issue Date: October 13, 2009
Maturity Date
Semi‐Annual
Interest
Payments (Note
2)
13‐Oct‐2017
$322,140

Annual Sinking
Fund Payments
(Note 3)
$1,693,034

Note 1: Coupon rate fixed to maturity.
Note 3: Due semi‐annually on April 13th and October 13th. First payment due April 13, 2010.
Note 4: Due annually on October 13th. First payment due October 13, 2010.

8.2

Short term borrowing – TransLink

The following table is a summary of all the transactions that went through the $250 million short‐term borrowing
facility with the MFA. During 2009 the maximum utilization of this facility was $150 million at the end of December
2009. Having this short‐term facility available from the MFA at favourable interest rates, compared to using a bank
facility, provides tremendous flexibility in managing TransLink’s cash flows, which are lumpy and sometimes hard
to predict.
MFA – Short‐Term Borrowing for the year 2009
Action
Loan #
Loan (Fixed
Interest Rate
Rate)
New Draw
1
$20,000,000
1.065% to
1.085%
New Draw
2
$25,000,000
1.065% to
1.075%
New Draw
3
$25,000,000
1.065% to
1.075%
New Draw
4
$15,000,000
1.065% to
1.075%
Repay
1/2/3/4
($85,000,000)

Transaction
Date
13‐Mar‐09

Maturity
Date
On demand

Total
Outstanding
$20,000,000

03‐Apr‐09

On demand

$45,000,000

09‐Apr‐09

On demand

$70,000,000

17‐Apr‐09

On demand

$85,000,000

21‐Apr‐09

$0
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MFA – Short‐Term Borrowing for the year 2009
New Draw
1
$25,000,000
New Draw

2

$20,000,000

New Draw

3

$30,000,000

New Draw

4

$15,000,000

Repay
New Draw
Repay
New Draw
New Draw
New Draw
New Draw
New Draw
New Draw

1/2/3/4
1
1
2
3
4
5
6
7

($90,000,000)
$25,000,000
($15,000,000)
$50,000,000
$30,000,000
$10,000,000
$10,000,000
$20,000,000
$20,000,000

8.3

1.24% to
1.25%
1.24% to
1.25%
1.24% to
1.25%
1.24% to
1.25%
1.25%
1.25%
1.25%
1.25%
1.25%
1.25%
1.25%

March, 2010

05‐Jun‐09

On demand

$25,000,000

12‐Jun‐09

On demand

$45,000,000

03‐Jul‐09

On demand

$75,000,000

10‐Jul‐09

On demand

$90,000,000

31‐Jul‐09
20‐Nov‐09
25‐Nov‐09
01‐Dec‐09
04‐Dec‐09
11‐Dec‐09
18‐Dec‐09
29‐Dec‐09
31‐Dec‐09
31‐Dec‐09

On demand
On demand
On demand
On demand
On demand
On demand
On demand

$0
$25,000,000
$10,000,000
$60,000,000
$90,000,000
$100,000,000
$110,000,000
$130,000,000
$150,000,000
$150,000,000

Short term borrowing – Canada Line

Canada Line has two sources of bridging finance, namely an inter‐company short‐term loan facility with TransLink
and short‐term loan facility with HSBC. As the inter‐company amounts lent by TransLink are netted out to zero on
consolidation, these loan transactions have been excluded. The table below summarizes Canada Line’s debt
transaction with HSBC in 2009.
HSBC – Short‐Term Borrowing for the year 2009 (Canada Line)
Action
Loan #
Loan (Fixed Rate) Interest
Transaction
Rate
Date
New Draw
1
$500,000
1.70%
30‐Jun‐09
Repay
1
($500,000)
31‐Jul‐09
31‐Dec‐09

Maturity
Date
31‐Jul‐09

Total
Outstanding
$500,000
$0
$0 (Note 1)

Note 1: Loan facility with HSBC cancelled on September 30, 2009.
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AUDITED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Consolidated Financial Statements of

SOUTH COAST BRITISH COLUMBIA TRANSPORTATION
AUTHORITY
Year ended December 31, 2009
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AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Members of the Board of the South Coast British Columbia Transportation Authority
We have audited the consolidated statement of financial position of the South Coast British Columbia
Transportation Authority (the “Authority”) as at December 31, 2009 and the consolidated statements of
operations and changes in fund balances and cash flows for the year then ended. These financial
statements are the responsibility of the Authority’s management. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those
standards require that we plan and perform an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall financial statement presentation.
In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Authority as at December 31, 2009 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for
the year then ended in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.

Chartered Accountants
Vancouver, Canada
March 5, 2010, except as to note 20 which is as of March 23, 2010.
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SOUTH COAST BRITISH COLUMBIA TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
(in thousands of dollars) December 31, 2009, with comparative figures for 2008
Restricted Funds
Capital
AirCare
Fund

General
Fund

Total
2009

Total
2008

Assets
Current assets:
Cash
Short-term investments
Accounts receivable
Supplies inventory
Prepaid expenses

$

Interfund
Long-term investments (note 4)
Debt reserve deposits (note 5)
Debt sinking funds (note 6)
Capital assets (note 7)

26,680
66,429
33,196
8,408
134,713

$

709,476
22,789
-

188
23
211

$

(1,757)
736

$

866,978

$

(810)

$

249,462
151,000
400,462

$

325
325

59,984
70,441
130,425

(707,719)
40,631
373,806
4,608,644

$

86,664
70,441
66,617
33,196
8,431
265,349

$

46,703
127,665
52,864
32,577
5,439
265,248

22,789
40,631
373,806
4,609,380

67,155
40,686
360,787
3,977,411

$4,445,787

$ 5,311,955

$ 4,711,287

$

-

$ 249,787
151,000
400,787

$ 159,160
159,160

Liabilities and Fund Balances (Deficit)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Short term loan (note 8)
Employee future benefits (note 9)
Deferred Concessionaire credits (note 10(a))
Golden Ears Bridge contractor liability (note 11(a))
Long-term debt (note 8)
Non-controlling interest in Transportation
Property and Casualty Company Inc.
Fund balances (deficit):
Invested in capital assets (note 14(a))
Externally restricted (note 14(b))
Unrestricted (deficit)

45,109
707,719
-

-

966,141
1,896,152

45,109
707,719
966,141
1,896,152

41,817
539,693
805,195
1,822,677

1,621
1,154,911

325

2,862,293

1,621
4,017,529

1,721
3,370,263

736
(1,871)
(1,135)

1,453,069
130,425
1,583,494

1,453,805
130,425
(289,804)
1,294,426

1,211,319
131,318
(1,613)
1,341,024

(810)

$4,445,787

(287,933)
(287,933)
$

866,978

$

$ 5,311,955

$ 4,711,287

Commitments and contingencies (note 15)
Subsequent event (note 20)
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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SOUTH COAST BRITISH COLUMBIA TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY
Consolidated Statement of Operations and Changes in Fund Balances
(in thousands of dollars)
Year ended December 31, 2009, with comparative figures for 2008
General
Fund
2009
Revenue:
Taxation
Transit
Golden Ears Bridge tollings
AirCare
Capital contributions (note 12)
Operating contributions
Amortization of deferred Concessionaire credit
Interest income
Expenses:
Transportation operations
Maintenance on roads and bridges
Major road network capital
AirCare - contracted services
Administration
Transit Police
Other projects
Interest
Amortization of capital assets

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses
before other items
Other items:
Fair value adjustment on
financial instruments
Loss on disposal of capital assets
Write-down of capital assets
Non-controlling interest in loss
(gain) of Transportation Property
and Casualty Company Inc.
Reorganization expense

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses
Fund balance (deficit), beginning of year
Net transfer between funds
Fund balance (deficit), end of year

$ 575,753
366,768
11,293
7,496
9,053
970,363

Restricted Funds
Capital
AirCare
Fund
2009
2009

$

17,497
17,497

$

171,022
22,203
193,225

$

Total
2009

Total
2009

Total
2008

17,497
171,022

22,203
210,722

$ 575,753
366,768
11,293
17,497
171,022
7,496
9,053
22,203
1,181,085

$ 560,110
359,911
19,037
217,070
24,415
1,180,543

732,664
43,615
116,749
16,328
41,307
26,767
8,765
112,900
120,344
1,219,439

660,829
37,472
64,710
16,029
39,455
22,051
15,206
63,414
88,447
1,007,613

732,664
43,615
39,795
26,767
8,765
851,606

16,328
1,512
371
18,211

116,749
112,900
119,973
349,622

116,749
16,328
1,512
112,900
120,344
367,833

118,757

(714)

(156,397)

(157,111)

(38,354)

-

-

(1,120)
(4,113)

(1,120)
(4,113)

(1,120)
(4,113)

(4,100)
(1,232)
-

100
(3,111)
(3,011)

-

(5,233)

(5,233)

100
(3,111)
(8,244)

(48)
(5,380)

(714)

(161,630)

(162,344)

(46,598)

115,746

172,930

167,550

(109)

(421)

1,341,554

1,341,133

1,341,024

1,173,474

(403,570)

-

403,570

403,570

-

-

$(287,933)

$(1,135)

$ 1,583,494

$ 1,582,359

$ 1,294,426 $ 1,341,024

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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SOUTH COAST BRITISH COLUMBIA TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
(in thousands of dollars)
Year ended December 31, 2009, with comparative figures for 2008
2009

2008

Cash provided by (used for):
Operations:
Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses
Items not involving cash (note 16)
Changes in non-cash working capital (note 16)

$

(46,598)
145,826
76,555
175,783

$ 167,550
94,701
(5,189)
257,062

57,224
44,366
55
143
(447,383)
(345,595)

44,689
100
(3,091)
443
(434,187)
(392,046)

151,000
165,600
(2,045)
(91,763)
(13,019)
209,773

150,000
(1,125)
(1,917)
(78,542)
68,416

Increase (decrease) in cash

39,961

(66,568)

Cash, beginning of period

46,703

113,271

Investing:
Decrease in short-term investments
Decrease in long-term investments
Decrease/(Increase) in debt reserve deposits
Net proceeds from disposal of capital assets
Purchase of capital assets

Financing:
Short-term loan proceeds
Long-term debt - sinking fund bonds issued
Issue costs on bonds issued
Repayments on long-term debt
Contributions to debt sinking funds

Cash, end of period

$

86,664

$

46,703

Supplementary information:
Interest paid
Canada Line concessionaire non-cash capital contribution
Golden Ears Bridge contractor non-cash capital contribution

$ 104,335
177,080
133,270

$

91,629
275,080
266,540

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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SOUTH COAST BRITISH COLUMBIA TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(tabular amounts in thousands of dollars)
Year ended December 31, 2009
1.

Operations:
The South Coast British Columbia Transportation Authority, formerly the Greater Vancouver Transportation
Authority, (the “Authority” or “TransLink”) was established in June 1998 as a regional public transportation
authority under the Greater Vancouver Transportation Authority Act (the “Act”) to provide for the planning,
funding, management and operation of an integrated regional transportation system for the greater
Vancouver region, effective April 1, 1999.
To achieve this, all transportation operations, assets and liabilities in the greater Vancouver region, formerly
owned and operated by British Columbia Transit, except those specified in Section 38 (8)(a) of the Act (most
notably the SkyTrain Expo Line guideway and West Coast Express infrastructures), together with the shares of
British Columbia Rapid Transit Company Ltd. (“BCRTC”) and West Coast Express Limited (“WCE”), were
transferred from the Province of British Columbia (the “Province”) to the Authority. Also assumed by the
Authority during 1999 was a 90% interest in Transportation Property and Casualty Company Inc. (“TPCC”),
operations of the Albion Ferry, and administration of the AirCare program. The Authority also acquired a
100% interest in Canada Line Rapid Transit Inc. (“CLCO”) in 2003.
The Act was renamed in November 2007 by the British Columbia provincial legislature to the South Coast
British Columbia Transportation Authority Act and the name of the Authority was also changed at that time.
The mandate of the Authority was reconfirmed with possible enlargement in the service region and additional
funding sources.

2.

Significant accounting policies:
(a) Basis of presentation:
The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted
accounting principles for not‐for‐profit organizations.
The consolidated financial statements follow the restricted fund method for accounting for contributions
and reflect a combination of the Authority’s General and Restricted Funds.
General Fund:
This fund includes the operations of the Authority and its subsidiaries, excluding AirCare, which is a
restricted fund.
Restricted Funds:
Restricted funds include the AirCare and Capital funds.
(i)

AirCare Fund:
This fund is used to record the operations of the AirCare Program, which is a self‐funded program
(note 14(a)).
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Significant accounting policies (continued):
(a) Basis of presentation (continued):
(ii)

Capital Fund:
This fund is used to record the acquisition costs of capital assets and any related long‐term debt
outstanding. This fund also includes the capital contributions received and payments to the
municipalities for the Major Road Network (“MRN”).

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Authority and its active subsidiaries as
follows:
(i)

Coast Mountain Bus Company Ltd. (“CMBC”) ‐ bus, seabus and community shuttle services;

(ii)

BCRTC ‐ SkyTrain service;

(iii)

WCE ‐ commuter rail system services;

(iv)

Fraser River Marine Transportation Ltd. (“FRMT”) ‐ ferry services between Maple Ridge and Langley
(Albion Ferry), which ceased operations as of July 31, 2009 after the opening of the Golden Ears
Bridge on June 16, 2009;

(v)

Pacific Vehicle Testing Technologies Ltd. (“PVTT”) ‐ administration of AirCare program;

(vi)

CLCO ‐ oversaw the study, design, construction and implementation of a rapid transit line (the
“Canada Line”) from Richmond to the Vancouver International Airport and downtown Vancouver
up to the point of substantial completion of construction, after which Translink assumed the
responsibility for all assets, liabilities, and operations.; and

(vii)

TPCC – a captive insurance company which provides insurance liability coverage.

All subsidiaries are wholly owned except for TPCC, in which the Authority has a 90% interest and the
remaining 10% interest is owned by British Columbia (“BC”) Transit. Effective April 1, 2010, the operation
of TPCC will change from a sophisticated captive insurance company to a pure captive insurance company
as a result of BC Transit withdrawing its 10% shareholder participation.
All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated upon consolidation.
(b) Financial instruments:
The Authority accounts for its financial assets and liabilities in accordance with the Canadian Institute of
Chartered Accountants (CICA) Handbook Section 3855, Financial Instruments – Recognition and
Measurement, CICA Handbook Section 3861, Financial Instruments – Disclosure and Presentation, and
CICA Handbook Section 3865, Hedges. These Handbook Sections provide comprehensive requirements for
the recognition and measurement of financial instruments, as well as standards on when and how hedge
accounting may be applied.
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Significant accounting policies (continued):
(b) Financial instruments (continued):
All financial assets and liabilities are classified into one of the following five categories: held for trading,
held‐to‐maturity, loans and receivables, available‐for‐sale financial assets or other financial liabilities. All
financial instruments, including derivatives, are included on the balance sheet and initially measured at
fair market value.
Subsequent measurement and recognition of changes in fair value of financial instruments depend on
their initial classification. Held for trading financial investments are measured at fair value and all gains
and losses are included in net income in the period in which they arise. Available‐for‐sale financial
instruments are measured at fair value with revaluation gains and losses included in fund balance. Loans
and receivables, held‐to‐maturity financial investment and other financial liabilities are measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest rate method.
Derivative instruments are required to be recorded as either assets or liabilities measured at their fair
value unless exempted from derivative treatment as normal purchase and sale. Certain derivatives
embedded in other contracts must also be measured at fair value. All changes in the fair value of
derivatives are recognized as earnings unless specific hedge criteria are met, which require that an entity
must formally document, designate and assess the effectiveness of a transaction that received hedge
accounting.
The categories of the Authority’s financial assets and liabilities are as follows:

Financial Assets
(i)

Held for trading:

Cash:
Cash is classified as held for trading.
Short‐term investments:
Short‐term investments are fixed income investments with a term to maturity of
three months or less from the date of purchase and are designated held for
trading. All the gains and losses are included in net income in the period in which
they arise.
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Significant accounting policies (continued):
(b) Financial instruments (continued):

Financial Assets (continued)
(i)

Held for trading (continued):

Asset‐Backed Commercial Paper:
At December 31, 2008 long‐term investments included non‐bank sponsored Asset‐
Backed Commercial Paper (“ABCP”) or replacement notes (note 4) that were
designated as held for trading and recorded at their estimated fair values. All of
these were disposed of in the current year, as disclosed in note 4.
(ii)

Held‐to‐maturity:

Debt reserve deposits and debt sinking fund:
The Authority classifies debt reserve deposits (note 5) and debt sinking funds (note
6) as held‐to‐maturity recorded at their amortized costs as these assets are due
when the related debt matures.
Long‐term investments:
Long‐term investments include bonds classified as held‐to‐maturity financial assets
and recorded at amortized cost, with any premium or discount on purchase being
amortized over the term to maturity of each investment using an effective yield
method. Declines in value of investments are recognized only when the decline is
considered to be other than temporary.
(iii)

Loans and receivables:

Accounts receivable:
Accounts receivable and accrued interest receivable are recorded at amortized
cost less any impairment losses provided for.
Financial Liabilities
(iv)

Held for trading:

The Authority does not currently hold any financial liabilities classified as held for
trading.
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Significant accounting policies (continued):
(b) Financial instruments (continued):
Financial Liabilities (continued)
(v)

Other financial liabilities:
Long‐term debt:
The Authority records long‐term debt at its amortized cost. Debt transaction costs, financing costs
and bond premium discounts are attributed to the debt incurred and amortized using the effective
interest rate method over the term of the underlying debt.
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities are recorded at amortized cost.

(vi)

Derivative financial instruments:
During the year ended December 31, 2008, the Authority was a party to forward foreign exchange
contracts (used to manage foreign currency exposures on imported purchases). Gains and losses
including fair value adjustments on forward foreign exchange contracts were recognized in income.
The Authority does not utilize derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.
There were no outstanding foreign exchange contracts at December 31, 2009.

(c) Supplies inventory:
Supplies inventory is valued at the lower of average cost and net realizable value. Cost includes purchase
price, import duties, other net taxes, and transport, handling and other costs directly attributable to
acquisition. Net realizable value is the estimated current replacement cost.
(d) Capital assets:
Capital assets have been recorded as follows:
(i) Capital assets are recorded at cost, including capitalized interest as described in note 2(e). The cost
includes the purchase price and other acquisition costs such as installation costs, design and
engineering fees, legal fees, survey costs, site preparation costs, freight charges, transportation,
insurance costs and duties.
(ii) Capital assets, contributed by the Province and BC Transit to the Authority upon inception, were
recorded at fair value at the date of contribution.
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Significant accounting policies (continued):
(d) Capital assets (continued):
(iii) Major spare parts and standby equipment qualify as capital assets when they are expected to be used
for a period exceeding one year.
(iv) Amortization is provided on the cost less estimated salvage value on a straight‐line basis over a
period not exceeding the estimated useful lives as follows:
Asset
Land improvements
Buildings
Bridges, guideways, tunnels and other supporting structures
Vehicles and SeaBus
Equipment
Capital spares

Years
30
20 – 30
25 – 100
5 – 40
3 – 40
20

(e) Capitalization of interest:
Interest incurred in connection with construction projects and major capital acquisitions is capitalized
from the commencement of the capital outlays until the assets are placed into service.
(f) Major Road Network (“MRN”) and Handover Facilities:
Part 2 of the Act provides that the Authority must establish a major road network comprising an
integrated system of highways throughout the transportation service region and the Authority must
contribute funds to the municipality for the purpose of constructing and maintaining any part of the MRN
within that municipality.
The related assets created become the property of the appropriate municipalities who assume all the
rights and obligations. As such, the funding provided by the Authority to the municipalities is expensed in
the statement of operations as incurred.
In conjunction with the Golden Ears Bridge (“GEB”) project, the Authority planned, designed, arranged
financing and constructed the GEB’s network of highways and related support facilities (“Handover
Facilities”) under separate agreements with various municipalities and the Province. Upon substantial
completion of the bridge, construction costs related to the Handover Facilities were transferred to the
Municipalities and the Province. The associated costs of the Handover Facilities were expensed and
included as part of the Major Road Network Capital.
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Significant accounting policies (continued):
(g) Pension plans and employee future benefits:
The Authority, its subsidiaries and employees make contributions to either the Public Service Pension Plan
or other defined contribution pension plans. These contributions are expensed as incurred.
Post‐retirement and post‐employment benefits are also available to the majority of the Authority’s
employees. The cost of post‐retirement benefits is actuarially determined, prorated on service and
management’s best estimate of retirement ages and expected health care costs. The cost of post‐
employment benefits to disabled employees is actuarially determined based on future projected benefits
of currently disabled employees. The obligations under these post‐retirement and post‐employment
benefit plans are accrued as the employees render services necessary to earn the future benefits. The
measurement date of the accrued benefit obligation coincides with the Authority’s fiscal year. The most
recent actuarial valuation of the plans for funding purposes was December 31, 2009. The plans are
unfunded and require no contributions from employees. Employer contributions are made based upon
expected annual benefit payments.
Actuarial gains (losses) on the accrued benefit obligation arise from differences between actual and
expected experience and from changes in the actuarial assumptions used to determine the accrued
benefit obligation. The net accumulated actuarial gains (losses) over 10% of the accrued benefit
obligation is calculated using the comparative figures and is amortized over the average remaining service
period of active employees in the statement of operations. The average remaining service period of the
active employees covered by the post‐retirement plan is 9 years (2008 – 9 years) and post‐employment
plan is 5 years (2008 ‐ 5 years).
(h) Deferred Concessionaire credits:
Deferred Concessionaire credits represent the funding provided by the Canada Line Concessionaire
towards the design and construction phases of the Canada Line. This amount is amortized to income over
the operating term of the concessionaire agreement which commenced in August 2009 and will expire in
July 2040.
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Significant accounting policies (continued):
(i) Revenue recognition:
The Authority follows the restricted fund method of accounting for contributions. Contributions from
third parties for defined purposes are recognized as revenue in the year they are received or receivable in
the applicable restricted fund. Specifically, contributions restricted for the purchase of capital assets are
recognized as revenue in the year they are received or receivable in the Capital fund.
User fees received for AirCare are restricted for the recovery of program costs and therefore they are
recognized in revenue in the restricted AirCare fund.
Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue in the general fund when received or receivable if
the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured.
(j) Income taxes:
The Authority is classified as a not for profit organization and is exempt from Canadian Federal and British
Columbia Provincial income taxes. The Authority’s subsidiaries are filing on the basis that they are
exempt from Canadian Federal and British Columbia Provincial income taxes.
(k) Foreign currency translation:
Transactions of the Authority and its subsidiaries originating in foreign currencies are translated at the
rates in effect at the time of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are translated to Canadian dollars at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet dates.
Foreign exchange gains and losses are included in income.
(l) Use of estimates:
The preparation of financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at
the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the
reporting period. Significant areas requiring the use of estimates include determination of useful lives of
capital assets, percentage of completion of construction in progress, allowance for doubtful accounts
receivable, obsolete inventory, determination of employee future benefits, estimated self insurance
liabilities, provisions for legal contingencies, and fair values of financial instruments. Actual results could
differ from those estimates.
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Significant accounting policies (continued):
(m) Future accounting changes:
(i) Changes in accounting framework:
The Authority is currently classified as a not‐for‐profit organization (“NPOs”) under the Act. The CICA
Accounting Standards Board (“AcSB”) is proposing to carryforward existing accounting standards for
NPOs into its new Accounting Handbook. The AcSB reconfirmed that existing standards for NPOs will
remain in effect for the time being until a mandatory effective date for adopting the new standards is
established.
The CICA Public Sector Accounting Board (“PSAB”) is also establishing NPOs concurrently with the
AcSB.
The Authority intends to continue applying the existing NPOs standards and is awaiting the
finalization of the new NPOs standards. Once the new standards are finalized, the Authority will
determine the impact and which framework to adopt. It is not anticipated that International
Financial Reporting Standards will be adopted by the Authority.
(ii) Financial instruments – presentation and disclosure:
CICA Section 3862 Financial Instruments – Disclosure and CICA Section 3863 Financial Instruments –
Presentation were issued in December 2006 to improve the disclosures of risks and improve the
standards regarding presentation and classification of financial instruments and are currently not
required for NPOs. Accordingly, the Authority has not yet adopted the Sections 3862 or 3863 and has
elected to continue to apply the existing financial instruments presentation and disclosures in
accordance with Section 3861, Financial Instruments – Disclosure and Presentation.
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Adoption of new accounting policies:
The Authority has adopted the following new accounting standards in these financial statements:
(a) Capital disclosures:
Effective January 1, 2009, the Authority adopted Handbook Section 1535, Capital Disclosures. Under this
new standard, the Authority is required to disclose both qualitative and quantitative information that
enables users of the financial statements to evaluate the Authority’s objectives, policies, and processes
for managing capital. It also includes disclosure regarding what the Authority regards as capital, whether
the Authority has complied with any external requirements and in the event of non‐compliance, the
consequences of not complying with these capital requirements (note 18).
(b) Goodwill and intangible assets, Section 3064:
Effective January 1, 2009, the Authority adopted Handbook Section 3064, Goodwill and Intangible Assets,
which replaced existing Handbook Section 3062, Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, and Handbook
Section 3450, Research and Development. The new standard provides guidance on the recognition,
measurement, presentation and disclosure of goodwill and intangible assets. The implementation of this
standard did not have an impact on the financial statements.
(c) Other revisions to NPO accounting standards:
There are several other changes effective for periods beginning on or after January 1, 2009, which clarify
the applicability of Accounting Guidelines (“AcGs”) and Abstracts of Issues Discussed by the Emerging
Issues Committee (“EICs”) to NPOs, remove the requirement to disclose net assets invested in capital
assets, clarify capital asset recognition criteria and amortization, expand interim financial statement
requirements to NPOs, and require disclosure of allocated fundraising and general support expenses by
NPOs. These changes did not have a significant impact on the Authority’s financial statements.

4.

Long‐term investments:
2009
Bonds and term notes

$

Asset Backed Commercial Paper & Replacement Notes

22,789

2008
$

‐
$

22,789

21,955
45,200

$

67,155
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Long‐term investments (continued):
(a) Long term bonds:
The long term bonds are designated as held to maturity and recorded at amortized cost. The fair value of
the bonds and notes totals $23,316,924 (2008 ‐ $22,609,592).
(b) Asset‐Backed Commercial Paper & Replacement Notes:
The Asset‐Backed Commercial Paper was designated as held for trading and recorded at their fair value.
During the year, the Authority received repayment of $45,200,000 of the replacement notes received in
exchange for its Asset‐Backed Commercial Paper, previously held.

5.

Debt reserve deposits:
The Authority is required to pay the Municipal Finance Authority of British Columbia (“MFA”) debt reserve
deposits into a debt reserve fund of 1% (2% prior to 2007) of the face value of each debenture borrowing from
the MFA. These are interest bearing restricted funds administered by the MFA and are only refundable once
the respective debt issue has been fully repaid.
If at any time the MFA does not receive sufficient funds to meet interest and principal payments or sinking
fund contributions due on the Authority’s debt obligations, the interest and principal payments or sinking fund
contributions will be deducted from this debt reserve fund. As the debt reserve deposits are not expected to
be refunded until the debt fully matures, the balance of $40,631,000 (2008 ‐ $40,686,000) has been presented
as a long‐term asset.
In addition to the debt reserve deposit, the Authority is required by the MFA to issue a non‐interest bearing
demand note for an amount equal to one‐half the average annual installment of principal and interest relative
to any debt borrowed less the debt reserve deposit. The demand notes payable to the MFA are callable only
if, in the event of a default by the Authority or Metro Vancouver (the interposed significant lender over the
Authority’s long term debt), there are insufficient funds in the Authority’s debt reserve deposits held at the
MFA to meet a required interest and principal payment or sinking fund contributions. As the Authority is in
full compliance with its debt payments and no such call has been made by the MFA against these demand
notes, their face value have not been recorded on the balance sheet. At year end, these demand notes
totaled $56,010,020 (2008‐ $53,205,895).
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Debt sinking funds:
The debt sinking funds are administered by the MFA and are restricted for the ultimate settlement of the
Authority’s sinking fund debenture liability. Annual contributions are made to the sinking fund based on
amortization schedules for each debenture. In addition to the annual contributions, interest earned on the
debt sinking fund is estimated based on the MFA’s future interest rate projections.

7.

Capital assets:

Cost
Land
Land improvements
Buildings
Bridges, guideways, tunnels and other
supporting structures
Vehicles and SeaBus
Equipment
Capital spares
Capital projects in progress

$

205,413
41,741
160,966

Accumulated
amortization
$

2,922,398
1,340,455
422,408
7,520
184,862
$ 5,285,763

‐
10,628
59,978
19,704
381,379
203,252
1,442
‐

$

676,383

2009
Net
$

205,413 $
31,113
100,988
2,902,694
959,076
219,156
6,078
184,862

2008
Net
133,210
24,616
108,038
2,603,256
672,085
187,926
5,699
242,581

$ 4,609,380 $ 3,977,411

Interest capitalized during the year ended December 31, 2009 amounted to $22,391,000 (2008‐ $28,585,000).
8.

Short term loan and long‐term debt:
(a) Short term loan:
(i) At December 31, 2009 the Authority had drawn $150,000,000 under a $250,000,000 line of credit
with the MFA, secured by a demand promissory note and a registered security interest over property
tax receipts. This line of credit is subject to floating interest rates of approximately prime less 1.25%
per annum.
(ii) BC Transit, a shareholder, advanced $1,000,000 to TPCC in exchange for a promissory note. The
advance was made by BC Transit to increase their relative insurance pool in accordance with the
shareholder agreement requirements. The note bears interest equal to the net investment income
earned on investment of such funds. The note matures on December 31, 2012, but prepayment may
be accelerated without bonus or penalty.
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Short term loan and long‐term debt (continued):
(b) Long‐term debt:
2009

2008

Unsecured sinking fund bonds, weighted average coupon rate of
4.83% (effective rate 4.95%), maturing at various dates from
2010 to 2036, 10 to 30 year term
$ 1,669,975

$ 1,680,236

Secured sinking fund bond, coupon rate of 4.90% (effective rate
5.00%), maturing in 2019, 20 year term

148,926

‐

Unsecured serial debenture, coupon rate of 5.10% (effective rate
5.19%), maturing in 2025, principal repayment annually, 20 year
term

38,993

40,935

Unsecured sinking fund bonds, under interest rate and currency
conversion agreements, effective weighted average coupon
rate of 5.74% (effective rate 5.76%), maturing in 2010, 20 year
term

38,258

101,506

$ 1,896,152

$ 1,822,677

Sinking fund and serial debt payments, due in each of the next five years and thereafter, are
approximately as follows:
Sinking
Fund
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014
Thereafter

$

75,202
75,202
75,202
72,816
70,128
1,488,609

Serial
Debt
$

2,016
2,067
2,120
2,174
2,230
28,386

Three transit properties have been mortgaged as security for the repayment on the above noted secured
sinking fund bond.
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Pension plans and employee future benefits:
(a) Pension plans:
The Authority, CMBC, PVTT and FRMT and their employees contribute to the Public Service Pension Plan
(the “Plan”), which is a multi‐employer defined benefit plan, together with other British Columbia public
service employers, in accordance with the Public Sector Pension Plans Act. The British Columbia Pension
Corporation administers the Plan, including the payment of pension benefits and other post‐retirement
benefits, on behalf of the employers and the employees to whom the Act applies. Details of the Plan are
provided in the Public Accounts of British Columbia. The long‐term funding of the Plan is based on the
level contribution method. Using this method, employer contribution rates are set out so that, in
combination with member contributions, they will fully pay for benefits earned by the typical new
entrants to the Plan and will maintain the Plan’s unfunded accrual liability (UAL) for funding purposes, if
any, as a constant percentage of employer payroll. The actuary does not attribute portions of the UAL to
individual employers. Contributions to the Plan are expensed in the year when payments are made. The
total expense recorded in the financial statements in respect of pension contributions amounts to
$31,018,000 (2008 ‐ $27,283,000).
Every three years, an actuarial valuation is performed to assess the financial position of the Plan and the
adequacy of plan funding. The latest full actuarial valuation, which was carried out as at March 31, 2008,
resulted in a surplus of $487,000,000.
The employees of WCE and BCRTC are members of defined contribution plans administered by Great
West Life, Sun Life and Canada Life. The total expense recorded in the financial statements, in respect of
pension contributions under these plans, amounts to $3,964,000 (2008 ‐ $3,524,000).
(b) Post‐retirement benefit plans and post‐employment plans:
(i) Apart from the post‐retirement benefits provided by the Plan, the Authority and CMBC continue to
provide life insurance benefits to all retired employees. BCRTC also sponsors a post‐retirement plan
which provides continuing healthcare benefits to retired employees. The total expense recorded in
the financial statements, in respect of obligations under these plans, amounts to $2,952,000 (2008 ‐
$3,675,000).
(ii) The Authority and its subsidiaries also provide Provincial health care, extended health, dental care
and life insurance benefits to employees on long‐term disability from the date they become disabled
(post‐employment benefits). The total expense recorded in the financial statements for the year, in
respect of obligations under these plans, amounts to $2,494,000 (2008 ‐ $2,395,000).
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Pension plans and employee future benefits (continued):
(b) Post retirement benefit plans and post employment plans (continued):
(iii) Summary of the Authority’s post‐retirement and post‐employment plans is as follows:
Post‐retirement Post‐employment
benefits
benefits
Accrued benefit obligation
Unamortized amounts
Accrued benefit liability

$

28,796

$

1,312
30,108

$

10,394

$

4,607
15,001

2009

$

39,190

$

5,919
45,109

2008
$

33,281

$

8,536
41,817

The accrued benefit liability is not presently funded.
(iv) The significant assumptions used are as follows:
2009

2008

Accrued benefit obligation as of December 31:
Discount rate

5.5% ‐ 7.0%

5.4% ‐ 5.5%

Benefit costs for years ended December 31:
Discount rate

6.8% ‐ 7.3%

6.8% ‐ 7.3%

3.0% ‐ 10.0%

3.0% ‐ 10.0%

Assumed health care cost trend rates at December 31:
Increase in health care cost trend rate
Employee future benefit costs recognized in the year:
Post‐retirement and post‐employment benefits

$ 5,446

$

6,070

Other information regarding the Authority’s post‐retirement and post‐employment plan is as follows:
2009
Employer contributions

$

2,154

2008
$

2,014
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10. Canada Line:
(a) Deferred Concessionaire credit:
2009
Opening balance

$

Add: deferred Concessionaire capital contributions
Less: amortization
$

539,693

2008
$

264,613

177,080

275,080

(9,054)

‐

707,719

$

539,693

(b) Operating commitments:
The Canada Line project is a rail based rapid transit line that links central Richmond, the Vancouver
International Airport and downtown Vancouver. TransLink assumed the responsibility from CLCO to
oversee the contract with the concessionaire (InTransit BC) over the operating period from August 2009
to July 2040.
Base operational and maintenance payments to the Canada Line Concessionaire which are subject to
adjustments for operational metrics and inflation adjustments are as follows:
Each 28 Day Period
August 2009 to July 2034
August 2034
September 2034 to July 2040

$

6,409
5,236
4,064

The total estimated base operating and maintenance payments to the Concessionaire for each of the next
5 years adjusted for certain operational metrics and inflation excluding taxes are as follows:

2010
2011
2012
2013
2014

$

82,000
94,000
102,000
104,000
106,000

The Province of BC has committed to provide funding of $1,478,000 at each 28 day period for 395 periods
related to the Canada Line operating expenses, which is approximately $19.3 million per annum.

Page 72 of 96

South Coast British Columbia Transportation Authority ‐ 2009 Statutory Annual Report

March, 2010

11. Golden Ears Bridge:
(a) Golden Ears Bridge (“GEB”) Contractor Liability:
2009
Opening balance

$

Add:
GEB contractor capital contributions
Interest accretion on contractor liability
Ending balance

805,195

2008
$

133,270
27,676
$

966,141

538,655

266,540
‐
$

805,195

In 2006, the Authority entered in a fixed‐price contract with the Golden Crossing General Partnership (the
“GCGP”) to design, construct, finance, operate, maintain and rehabilitate the GEB. The contract was
executed in March 2006 and terminates in June 2041.
The GCGP was responsible for financing the estimated construction cost of the GEB of $888,000,000. In
addition, the GCGP has advanced $50,000,000 to the Authority, which is included in the GEB contractor
liability on the statement of financial position.
Capital and interest payments to the GCGP commenced on substantial completion of the project. The
nominal monthly blended capital and interest payments, which will escalate based on a CPI index, are as
follows:
Monthly
January 2010 to June 2010
July 2010 to June 2011
July 2011 to June 2014
July 2014 to June 2041

$

1,500
3,000
4,000
4,792

The obligation to the GCGP bears interest at an effective rate of 6.70% per annum. The effective interest
rate is the sum of the implicit interest rate, which establishes the net present value of the payment
stream of the cost of the bridge, plus the forecast CPI index with expected annual inflation rate of 2%.
Capital
and interest
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014

$

29,299
46,452
54,115
55,204
61,918
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11. Golden Ears Bridge (continued):
(b) Operating agreement with GCGP:
The Authority will also pay the GCGP a monthly Operating, Maintenance, Rehabilitation (“OMR”) fee of
$316,198, which will also escalate based on a CPI index.
Based on the 2% inflation rate per annum, OMR payments to GCGP in next five years are expected to be
as follows:
OMR
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014

$

4,111
4,193
4,278
4,364
4,451

(c) Agreement with V‐Flow Tolling Inc. (“V‐Flow”):
In 2007, the Authority entered in a contract with V‐Flow to design, furnish, install, test, operate and
maintain a toll system for the GEB on behalf of the Authority. Tolling operations commenced July 2009.
The contract expires in 2014, with the Authority having the option to extend the term of the contract for
up to an additional three years.
Payments to V‐Flow are effected on substantial system acceptance and consist of fixed and variable
components and are adjusted monthly based on a CPI index. The fixed component of the payments is as
follows:
Monthly
July 2009 to June 2010
July 2010 to June 2011
July 2011 to June 2012
July 2012 to June 2013
July 2013 to June 2014

$

2,261
2,328
2,660
2,598
2,664
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11. Golden Ears Bridge (continued):
(d) Municipal and Provincial Handover Facilities:
Under separate agreements between the Authority and the Township of Langley, the District of Maple
Ridge, the District of Pitt Meadows, the City of Surrey, the Greater Vancouver Regional District, the
Greater Vancouver Sewerage and Drainage District, the Greater Vancouver Water District (the
“Municipalities”) and the Province, the Authority planned, designed, financed and constructed the GEB,
together with a new network of highways which brought the improvement, upgrading, relocation and
widening of existing provincial and municipal roads and highways, access facilities, utility infrastructure
and related support facilities, ramps and traffic signals to improve access along and across the Fraser
River. The Handover Facilities were transferred to the Municipalities and the Province upon substantial
completion of the GEB project. The Municipalities and the Province assumed ownership and the risks
associated with the Handover Facilities and will operate, maintain and rehabilitate the Handover Facilities
thereafter.
As at December 31, 2009, $100,998,000 was expensed as a result of Handover Facilities that were
transferred to the Municipalities and the Province. Construction of a remaining $3,000,000 in Handover
Facilities will be expensed in 2010 upon completion and transfer of title.
12. Capital contributions:
Capital contributions received during the year:
2009
Transfer from the Government:
Government of Canada
Gas Tax Agreement Funds
Transit‐Secure Funds
Urban Transportation Showcase Program

$

Provincial Government of British Columbia
Provincial Transit Plan
Canada Line project:
Government of Canada
Provincial Government of British Columbia
City of Vancouver
City of Richmond

Others
$

124,296
7,658
1,657
133,611

2008

$

62,148
4,510
5,213
71,871

‐

51,800

23,336
13,050
1,000
‐
37,386

24,734
59,600
7,065
2,000
93,399

25

‐

171,022

$

217,070
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12. Capital contributions (continued):
Contributions from the Vancouver International Airport Authority (“VIAA”) totaling $15,945,000 (2008 ‐
$48,002,000) were netted against the related project costs of the Canada Line as VIAA ultimately retains
ownership to the related capital outlay.
13. Gas Tax Agreement:
Gas Tax Agreement funding is provided by the Government of Canada. The use of the funding is established
by a funding agreement between the Authority and the Union of British Columbia Municipalities. Funding
may be used towards designated public transit projects in accordance with the agreement. Receipts and
disbursements for the year are as follows:
2009

Gas Tax Agreement Funds

2008

Opening balance, unspent funds
Add: Amount received during the year
Interest earned
Less: Amount spent on projects
Amount spent on administration

$

59,468
124,296
581
(55,923)
(305)

$

34,022
62,148
1,103
(37,693)
(112)

Closing balance, unspent funds

$ 128,117

$

59,468

14. Fund balances ‐ restricted funds:
(a) Invested in capital assets:
Capital fund:

Balance, beginning of year
Net additions to capital assets (includes non‐cash items)
Amortization of capital assets
Amortization of capital asset charged to
capital projects in progress
Amortization of deferred Concessionaire credit
Write‐down of capital assets
Loss on disposal of capital assets
Net proceeds from disposal of capital assets
Amount funded by long‐term debt
Amount funded by deferred Concessionaire credits
Amount funded by Golden Ears Bridge contractor liability
Decrease in debt reserve deposits
Increase in debt sinking funds

Balance, end of year

2009

2008

$ 1,210,236

$932,331

757,710
(119,973)

975,507
(88,108)

(44)
9,053
(4,113)
(1,120)
(143)
(73,475)
(177,080)
(160,946)
(55)
13,019

(142)
‐
‐
(1,232)
(443)
(147,690)
(275,080)
(266,540)
3,091
78,542

242,833

277,905

$ 1,453,069

$1,210,236
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14. Fund balances ‐ restricted funds (continued):
(a) Invested in capital assets (continued):
AirCare:
2009
Balance, beginning of year

$

Purchase of capital assets
Amortization of capital assets

Balance, end of year

1,083

2008
$

24
(371)
(347)
$

736

1,122
300
(339)
(39)

$

1,083

(b) Externally restricted:
Capital fund:
2009
Balance, beginning of year

$

Contributions received
Expenditures of restricted funds

Balance, end of year

$

131,318

2008
$

106,555

171,022
(171,915)
(893)

217,070
(192,307)
24,763

130,425

$ 131,318

The majority of the restricted funds are associated with the Gas Tax agreement as disclosed in note 13.
AirCare:
AirCare is a self‐funded program under Section 50 of the Motor Vehicle Act. Any deficits incurred will be
covered through future operations, such that any deficits are eliminated by the end of the program.
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15. Commitments and contingencies:
(a) Operating lease payments – WCE:
The Authority has an operating lease agreement with Pitney Bowes of Canada Ltd. for WCE vehicles which
expires March 2016. In connection with operating the Commuter Rail System, WCE also has entered into
operating commitments for train operations, rolling stock maintenance, land leases, ticket vending and
parking management and miscellaneous services.
The following summarizes the WCE operating commitments:
WCE
vehiclesleases
2010
2011
2012
2013
2014 and thereafter

$

9,193
10,136
11,175
12,320
31,677

Other
Total
$

12,261
8,861
5,838
5,680
10,579

$

21,454
18,997
17,013
18,000
42,256

(b) Vehicle emission testing contract ‐ PVTT:
PVTT has entered into a contract with Envirotest Canada Ltd. to provide vehicle emission testing services
until December 2011. The minimum annual fee for each of the contract year is as follows:

2010
2011

$

16,701
17,015

(c) Diesel fuel purchase:
During 2009, the Authority entered into multiple fixed price futures agreements with the objective of
achieving budget stability of 75% of expected diesel purchase volumes for January to November 2010 and
50% for December 2010 as at year end. The approximate payments relating to the fixed price futures
agreements for the contracted purchase volumes are as follows:

2010

$

28,437
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15. Commitments and contingencies (continued):
(d) Natural gas supply contract:
The Authority entered into a floating price contract for a five year period beginning November 1, 2005.
Subsequently, the Authority entered into three fixed price agreements for various terms and minimum
purchase volumes, which are equal to approximately 70% of the Authority’s expected volumes. The
approximate payment relating to the minimum purchase volume for the remaining term of these
contracts is as follows:

2010

$

1,364

(e) Major Road Network (“MRN”) Capital Funding:
The Authority has signed several funding agreements with municipalities on major MRN projects. At
December 31, 2009, the net amount of MRN capital funding committed is $79,000,000 (2008 ‐
$135,505,000). This amount will be paid to the municipalities upon completion of their projects.
(f) Other operating leases:
The Authority is committed to annual lease payments in respect of office premises and computer
equipment in the following amounts:

2010
2011
2012
2013
2014

$

12,639
11,616
10,667
6,139
5,597
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15. Commitments and contingencies (continued):
(g) Lawsuits and claims:
As at December 31, 2009, a number of lawsuits and claims, arising in the ordinary course of business,
have been initiated against the Authority. Management is of the opinion that, except as noted below, the
outcome of any lawsuits and claims against the Authority are not likely to be material, and therefore
sufficient provisions have been made in the financial statements for any liability related to such lawsuits
and claims.
Three lawsuits were commenced against TransLink and/or its subsidiary CLCO in relation to the Canada
Line project.
o

A lawsuit was resolved in favour of the plaintiff, a Cambie Street merchant, and is currently under
appeal. The settlement award was recognized in the current year.

o

A class action lawsuit has been filed by Cambie area merchants, but no specific amount has been
claimed at this time. The Authority does not believe that a reasonable estimate of any potential loss
can be estimated at this time and therefore no provisions have been made in the financial
statements.

o

A lawsuit has been filed by a number of Cambie area merchants, but no specific amount has been
claimed at this time. The Authority does not believe that a reasonable estimate of any potential loss
can be estimated at this time and therefore no provisions have been made in the financial
statements.

Management will continue to monitor and assess these potential claims. Once a reasonable estimate of
the potential liability, if any, is determined, a provision will be recognized.
(h) Other capital commitments:
At December 31, 2009, $107,113,000 has been contractually committed for other capital projects in
progress (2008 ‐ $379,460,000).
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16. Statement of cash flows:
2009
Items not involving cash:
Amortization of capital assets
Amortization of capital assets charged to
capital projects in progress
Amortization of bond discount
Amortization of Deferred Concessionaire credits
Interest accretion on contractor liability
Writedown of capital asset
Loss on disposal of capital assets
Non-controlling interest in income/(loss) of TPCC
Fair value adjustment on financial instruments

Changes in non-cash working capital:
(Increase) / decrease in accounts receivable
Increase in supplies inventory
Increase in prepaid expenses
Increase / (decrease) in accounts payable and
accrued liabilities
Employee future benefit payable

$

120,344

2008

$

44
1,682
(9,053)
27,676
4,113
1,120
(100)
-

88,447
142
732
1,232
48
4,100

$

145,826

$

94,701

$

(13,753)
(619)
(2,992)

$

3,927
(3,962)
(113)

90,627
3,292
$

76,555

(9,097)
4,056
$

(5,189)

17. Financial instruments:
(a) Credit, interest and foreign exchange risk:
The Authority utilizes various financial instruments. Unless otherwise noted, it is management’s opinion
that the Authority is not exposed to any significant credit or interest rate risk as a result of these financial
instruments. Interest rates have been fixed for all long‐term debt. The Authority’s operations are all
based in Canada and exposure to foreign exchange fluctuations is not significant.
(b) Fair values:
The fair value of debt reserve deposits, debt sinking funds and long‐term debt at December 31, 2009 is
$40,430,000, $371,956,000, and $1,986,351,000 (2008 ‐ $40,755,000, $361,400,000 and $1,869,099,000),
respectively.
For all other classes of financial instruments shown in these financial statements, management considers
that the carrying amounts approximate fair values due to the immediate or short‐term maturity of these
financial instruments.
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18. Capital management:
The Authority’s principal business of providing public transit and joint responsibility of the MRN requires
ongoing access to capital in order to fund operations, satisfy outstanding long‐term debt obligations and fulfill
future capital asset acquisition obligations.
In order to ensure capital market access is maintained, the Authority targets to maintain strong investment
grade credit ratings.
The Authority defines capital as short‐term borrowings, long‐term debt (including current portion) and fund
balances, net of cash, short‐term investments, debt reserve funds and debt sinking funds. The GEB contractor
liability is not considered to be capital as management has little, if any, influence over this debt and monthly
repayments are supported by toll revenues which also provides a natural hedge as both repayments and toll
rates are indexed to CPI.
The Authority’s capital is calculated as follows:
2009
Short‐term loan
Long‐term debt (includes current portion, net of financing costs)
Fund balances *
Less:
Cash *
Short‐term investments *
Debt reserve deposits
Debt sinking funds

$

151,000
1,896,152
1,294,426

2008
$

‐
1,822,677
1,341,024

(86,664)
(70,441)
(40,631)
(373,806)

(46,703)
(127,665)
(40,686)
(360,787)

$ 2,770,036

$ 2,587,860

* These balances include a restricted portion.
The Authority’s objectives when managing capital are to enable its businesses to operate at the highest
efficiency and to provide liquidity to meet operational and capital commitments. The need for sufficient liquid
resources is considered in the preparation of an annual budget, 10‐year base plan and supplemental plans and
in the monitoring of cash flows and actual results.
Capital is generally available through a variety of short term and long term sources.
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18. Capital management (continued):
Under the SCBCTA Act, the Authority is restricted from incurring debt obligations that exceed the Authority’s
debt obligation “cap” of $2,800,000,000. The debt obligations are calculated as the sum of current borrowings
of the Authority secured by debentures, bonds, other forms of indentures, capital leases, short‐term notes,
lines of credits and bank overdrafts, excluding any financing costs. Any future increases in this “cap” need to
be approved by the Mayors’ Council on Regional Transportation (after consultation with the Greater
Vancouver Regional District) through a supplementary financial plan. As at December 31, 2009 the Authority’s
outstanding debt obligation was $2,057,287,162 (short term and long term debt excluding financing fees).
19. Comparative figures:
Certain of the comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with current year’s financial statement
presentation.

20. Subsequent event:
Effective March 23, 2010 the Authority entered into a $500 million unsecured credit agreement with a
syndicate of Canadian banks led by the Toronto‐Dominion Bank. This credit agreement has a term of three
years with an annual extension option. The credit agreement provides for a number of borrowing options
including a revolving line of credit, a swing line of up to $50 million, bankers’ acceptances, London Interbank
Offered Rate loans and letters of credit. Interest rates are generally floating but can be fixed for terms up to
365 days.
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COMPLAINTS SUMMARY

TransLink customer complaints are handled at several locations. The customer relations call centre at CMBC
handles the majority of complaints regarding buses and SkyTrain. West Coast Express has a separate customer
service department and SkyTrain and Canada Line receive approximately 80% of their complaints through
TransLink Customer Relations. HandyDART also receives complaints through TransLink Customer Relations as well
as directly from customers. Complaints for AirCare service are recorded both by the contractor and through the
AirCare website.
Although TransLink increased the total bus service hours and introduced a new ALRT service to Metro Vancouver
residents in 2009, the total number of complaints across the TransLink family of companies dropped 10% from
2008 (26,076 in 2009 versus 28,975 in 2008). This is the second straight year of double digit decreases in the
number of complaints TransLink received. (In 2008, complaints were down 11% from 2007; 28,975 in 2008 versus
32,511 in 2007.)
For CMBC, while approximately half the complaints involve operators and one quarter of complaints relate to
service delivery, it should be noted that for the second straight year the number of complaints has dropped. This is
particularly strong performance when the decrease in complaints is measured against an increase of more than
239,000 service hours in 2009.
On SkyTrain the majority of the complaints came under the stations/parkways category, due to track noise issues.
These complaints were addressed by prioritizing maintenance work in the concerned areas. To respond to safety
concerns voiced by customers, dedicated staff was placed into Edmonds, Columbia, Stadium and New Westminster
SkyTrain stations. In response to system schedule issues, 21 of 24 new trains were brought into service and to
address customer relations issues, and SkyTrain developed and implemented a platform passenger management
plan for use during extended delays in peak hours.
For Canada Line the majority of complaints were generated due to operational teething issues as well as issues
with ticket vending machines and wayfinding signage. Most of these have either been responded to or a change
has been made to a fix the issues. In 2010, Canada Line will be connected to the COMs system directly, which will
provide an even higher level of service to customer and more timely responses to questions and complaints.
West Coast Express (WCE) had an overall decrease in complaints for 2009, particularly in the areas of Service
Planning and Parking. This is directly related to the announcement of additional train cars for WCE, and changes
made to their parking facilities during the past year to add 10% more parking spots throughout WCE Park and ride
lots.
2009 was the first full year of operation for HandyDART under an amalgamated operator, MVT Canadian Bus Inc.
While the transition for customers was fairly smooth and well received, a labour dispute for 10 weeks in the final
quarter of 2009 created a significant service disruption.
AirCare has also seen a significant drop in the number of complaints they received and processed in 2009. The
majority of complaints are related to service issues. Most responses are handled by the contractor (Envirotest
Canada) and monitored by AirCare policy staff and auditor.
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A summary of complaints by transit service type is shown in Table A below.
Table A
Transit Service

Service Delivery
Service Planning
Staff
Website
Fares/ fare equipment
Cell phone/radio
Accessibility/Racks
Other
Total
Boarded Passengers
(thousands)
Complaints per
thousand passengers

Complaints by Transit Service Type
CMBC
SkyTrain Canada
(includes
Line
SeaBus and
Community
Shuttle )
5,155
1,708
13,933
580
0
528
290
1,097
23,291
371
336

West
Coast
Express

171
13
15
2
27

71
299

Total 2009

Total
2008

Handy
DART

705
815

1520

6,031
1,721
14,763
582
27
528
290
1,168
25,817
313,000

6,901
104
14,667
307
1,107
567
209
4,698
28,560
302,407

8.2

9.4

A brief summary of how complaints are handled is shown in Table B below.
Table B
CMBC
All complaints are logged and assigned a priority code of P1 or P3. P1 complaints are urgent and must be
resolved within 48 hours. P3 complaints are less critical and must be resolved within 15 business days.
99% of all CMBC complaints received in 2009 were closed in the year. 90% of complaints were closed within 14
business days.
West Coast Express
Customer service staff are able to resolve most problems immediately and 85% of all concerns within 24 hours.
Complaints that require assistance from other departments or other areas of transit may take up to five or
seven business days to complete.
SkyTrain
In 2009 86% of complaints were closed within 10 business days.
Canada Line
In 2009, handling of Canada Line complaints were split between TransLink and Canada Line due to privacy rules
regarding information sharing. With COMS installed at Canada Line, expectations are that they will handle all
operational complaints directed to them on the same time frame as noted above for CMBC.
HandyDART

HandyDART addresses complaints in the same manner and timeframe as CMBC; P1 within 48 hours and P3
within 15 business days. In actual practice, most of the complaints they receive are responded to and closed
within two days.
AirCare
Most responses are handled by the contractor (Envirotest Canada) and monitored by AirCare policy staff and
auditor. 90% of all the complaints they received in 2009 were responded to within 48 hours if received by email,
or within one business day (where possible) if received by phone.
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Complaint Summary by Service
CMBC
Staff

Detail

Operator Behaviour
Operator Driving
Operator Drove Past Stop
Operator Fare Dispute
Service Delivery
No Show
Bus Early/Late
Bus Full
Service Planning
Fares and Fare Equipment
Website
Cell phone/radio
Accessibility/racks
Operator Accessibility/Rack
Accessibility
Other
Total
West Coast Express
Service Delivery
Delays and Cancellations
Connections
Other
Service Planning
Staff
Website
Fares and Fare Equipment
Fare Checks
Fare Increases
Other
Parking Concerns
Etiquette
General
Total
SkyTrain
System Schedule
Fares/TVM
Stations/Parkways
Trains
Customer Relations
Safety/Security
Total

7,381
3,108
2,891
553

Category Sub‐total
13,933

5,155
1,964
2,822
369
1708
0
580
528
290
66
224
1,097
23,291
171
39
23
109
13
15
2
27
13
14
71
15
44
12
299
76
6
155
36
86
12
371
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Service
Test Procedure
Damage Claim
Repair results
Data entry error
Smoking Vehicle*
Contractor
Program/PVTT
Website
Total Complaints
Vehicles Tested

March, 2010

212
90
79
10
33
0
39
7
1
259
419,616

*smoking vehicle has been excluded as it is not relevant to the program’s service levels.
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CUSTOMER SATISFACTION SURVEY SUMMARY

Customer Service Performance Summary for 2009
Bus, SeaBus, SkyTrain, West Coast Express and Transit Overall

Summary
Transit System
•
•

In 2009, over half (53%) of transit customers gave the system good‐to‐excellent scores of 8, 9, 10 out of 10
for overall service.
At the system level, customers are most critical of the amount of transit information available at stops,
stations and on‐board buses, as well as the number of bus shelters available throughout the region. After a
slight improvement in 2008, likely in response to several improvements such as the Next Bus service,
customers’ perceptions of the availability of information at stops and stations plateaued in 2009. After having
reached their lowest level in over five years in 2008, the Value for Money rating improved in 2009, but is still
lower than in 2007.
Bus System

•
•
•

Over half (59%) of bus riders rate the overall bus service provided in Metro Vancouver as good to excellent.
Bus service top three strengths are: Having an Operator Who Drives Safely and Professionally, Feeling Safe
from Crime On Board the Bus and having a Direct Route. More than 70% of riders gave scores of 8 or higher
to these attributes.
Perceptions of overcrowding, on‐time reliability and frequency of service continue to have the greatest
impact on bus customers’ perceptions of overall bus service. These are also three lowest‐rated bus service
attributes.
SkyTrain

•

•

As of August 2009, SkyTrain ratings include the opinions of Canada Line riders. As in 2008, in 2009 almost
seven in 10 (69%) SkyTrain customers give the overall service good‐to‐excellent scores. Overcrowding,
although not the lowest‐rated attribute, is SkyTrain’s weakest area of service because of the relative impact
that crowding has on customers’ perceptions of the overall service. Overcrowding ratings have improved
over 2008 (37% good to excellent vs. 33%), likely due to the 48 SkyTrain cars that were added over the course
of the year.
In addition to crowding, Safety from Crime Onboard and Safety from Crime at the Station are two other key
drivers of overall SkyTrain service. Although much media attention is focused on these two areas, over half of
SkyTrain customers give high ratings (8, 9, 10) to both of these SkyTrain attributes, and customer perceptions
of safety from crime inside the station improved in 2009.
SeaBus

•
•

About eight in 10 (78%) of SeaBus customers give the service an eight or higher out of 10 for overall service.
SeaBus continues to perform well on all service attributes. Over 60% of SeaBus customers rate any one of the
eight service attributes an eight or higher out of 10.
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West Coast Express
•

•

West Coast Express receives the highest scores of all TransLink’s transit services with almost all (90%)
customers giving it good to excellent ratings for Overall Service. Almost seven in 10 (69%) of WCE riders feel
they receive good to excellent value for their money, which is very good considering that fares were
increased in 2008 and that the service is priced at a premium over other transit services.
Crowding continues to be the least positively‐viewed attribute with less than half of customers (41%) rating it
a high score of eight or more.

2009 Customer Service Performance Ratings
The table below summarizes the percentage of customers who gave top box (good to excellent) service ratings,
which is defined by industry standards as a rating of eight, nine or 10 out of 10.
All the attribute measures for the Transit System and each mode, including Overall Service are based on asking the
customers directly. In other words, Overall Service is not calculated mathematically from any of the specific service
attributes such as Frequency of Service, Providing On‐time Reliable Service, etc.
The analysis is segmented into the following groups:
•
•
•
•
•

Transit System (includes past 30‐day riders of the Bus, SeaBus or SkyTrain)
Bus System (includes all CMBC bus service as well as non‐CMBC bus service such as West Vancouver
Transit)
SkyTrain (as of August 17, 2009 the SkyTrain segment includes the Canada Line)
SeaBus, and
West Coast Express (the survey is conducted twice a year, onboard the train service only (i.e., excludes
TrainBus).

Data is from two sources:
•
•

TransLink’s Bus, SkyTrain, SeaBus Customer Service Performance Survey, which interviews past 30‐day,
adult users of transit in Metro Vancouver. Interviews are conducted daily and by phone.
TransLink’s West Coast Express Customer Service Performance survey which is currently conducted twice
per year (March and September) onboard the West Coast Express train. Surveys are administered by an
interviewer.
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2009 Customer Service Performance Scores

ATTRIBUTES

TRANSIT
SYSTEM

BUS
SYSTEM

SKYTRAIN**

SEABUS

WEST
COAST
EXPRESS

Percent who give scores of 8, 9, or 10 out of 10
Overall Service

53

59

69

78

Value for Money

41

69

Good Connections

41

58

Adequacy of Transit Information ‐‐ Stops/Stations

37

Adequacy of Transit Information ‐‐ Bus

37

Adequacy of Transit Information ‐‐ SkyTrain

51

Adequacy of Transit Information ‐‐ SeaBus

44

Transit Information Availability (On‐Board and Stations)

90

70

Operation of Service During Convenient Hours

46

Having Enough Bus Shelters

28

Ease of Contacting Telephone Information Clerk

66

Ease of Navigating Website

58

53

Having a Courteous Bus Operator/Having Courteous,
Competent and Helpful Staff*

68

Safe and Professional Bus Operator

78

Feeling Safe from Crime On Board the Bus / SkyTrain

77

61

Feeling Safe from Crime at the Stop and Transit Exchange
/Inside SkyTrain Stations / at SeaBus Stations

67

59

82

84

91

77

Feeling Safe from Crime (On‐Board and Stations)

90

Feeling Safe from Crime (WCE Parking Lots)

77

•
•

Not Being Overcrowded

46

37

67

41

On‐Time, Reliable Service

54

72

90

93

Clean and Graffiti Free Buses / SkyTrain Cars / Vessel
/ Vehicles And Stations

62

57

78

94

Having A Direct Route

74

Trip Duration from the Time You Boarded to the
Time You Got Off

68

82

87

Frequency of Service

47

66

64

63

Staff Availability

29

62

85

Delays Are Announced and Explained

31

78

Enough Parking

69

Equipment Provides a Safe Ride

92

* Beginning in April 2008, the bus service attribute, Courteous, Competent and Helpful Bus Operator was split into two attributes,
Having a Courteous Bus Operator and Having an Operator Who Drives Safely and Professionally.
** As of August 17, 2009, the SkyTrain measures include the perceptions of Canada Line customers, therefore this fact should be kept
in mind when comparing 2009 data to previous years
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CHANGES TO ARTICLES OF THE AUTHORITY

Pursuant to Section 190(3)(f) of the South Coast British Columbia Transportation Authority Act, the Board of
Directors must establish Articles of the South Coast British Columbia Transportation Authority that contain the
rules that the board has established for the conduct of their meetings, including the Screening Panel’s
recommendation on board remuneration and a skills and experience profile. The Articles were established by the
Board of Directors on February 5, 2008 and were amended on May 28, 2008 to include the Board Skills and
Experience Profile. The Articles are posted on the TransLink website at:
http://www.translink.bc.ca/files/pdf/Articles_SCBCTA.pdf.

Page 91 of 96

South Coast British Columbia Transportation Authority ‐ 2009 Statutory Report

F.

March, 2010

BOARD SUMMARY

Date

Type

Outcomes

January 26, 2009

Human Resources and
Compensation
Committee

•

Discussion on proposed compensation review, succession planning and CEO 360o review process.

January 27, 2009

Audit Committee

•

Discussion on enterprise risk management program, borrowing requirements and establishing
key performance indicators.

January 28, 2009

Governance
Committee

•

Membership of the Audit, Governance, Human Resources and Compensation and Major Capital
Projects committees recommended for approval by the board.

January 28, 2009

Major Capital Projects
Committee

•

Discussion on the status of major capital projects including transportation plans for the 2010
Olympic Games.

January 29, 2009

Board of Directors

•
•

Reconfirmed appointment of Dale Parker as Board Chair.
Members of the Audit, Governance, Human Resources and Compensation and Major Capital
Projects committees appointed.
Consultation Plan for the development of the 2010 10‐Year Transportation and Financial Plan
approved.

•
February 10, 2009

Board of Directors

•

Approved terms and conditions for long term borrowing from the Municipal Finance Authority.

March 25, 2009

Governance
Committee

•
•

Amendments to the Board Governance Manual recommended for approval by the board.
Appointment of Conduct Review Advisor recommended to the board.

March 25, 2009

Major Capital Projects
Committee

•

Discussion on the status of major capital projects including transportation plans for the 2010
Olympic Games .

March 26, 2009

Audit Committee

•
•
•
•

2008 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements recommended for approval by the board.
2009 property tax and replacement tax bylaws recommended for approval by the board.
2008 Statutory Annual Report recommended for approval by the board.
Amendments to the Audit Committee Terms of Reference approved.

March 26, 2009

Human Resources and
Compensation
Committee

•

Amendments to the Human Resources and Compensation Committee Terms of Reference
approved.
Recommended Board approval of the Chief Executive Officer’s proposed 2009 goals.

•
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Date

Type

Outcomes

March 27, 2009

Board of Directors

•
•
•
•
•

2009 Property Tax and Replacement Tax Bylaws approved.
2008 Audited Consolidated Financial Statements approved.
2008 Statutory Annual Report approved.
Amendments to Board Governance Manual approved.
Conduct Review Advisor appointed.

April 3, 2009

Board of Directors

•

Approved funding agreement with the provincial and federal governments for the purchase and
installation of a SkyTrain FareGate system.

June 2, 2009

Governance
Committee

•

Designation of the Board Chair as the proxy to sign consent resolutions in lieu of annual general
meetings of subsidiaries recommended to the Board.

June 2, 2009

Audit Committee

•
•

Financial Information Act filings recommended for approval by the board.
Approval of the Risk Management Policy Statement recommended for approval by the board.

June 3, 2009

Human Resource and
Compensation
Committee

•

Discussion on succession planning and CEO 360o review.

June 3, 2009

Major Capital Projects
Committee

•

Discussion on the status of major capital projects including transportation plans for the 2010
Olympic Games.

June 5, 2009

Board of Directors

•
•
•

Financial Information Act filings approved.
Risk Management Policy Statement approved.
Approved funding for seven additional West Coast Express passenger rail cars and upgrades to
the existing facilities .
Board Chair designated as the shareholder’s proxy to sign consent resolutions in lieu of annual
general meetings of subsidiaries.
Report summarizing the outcomes of the strategic planning sessions held during the fall of 2008
and the winter of 2009.

•
•
June 15, 2009

Audit Committee

•

Property acquisition approved.

July 6, 2009

Board of Directors

•

Approved disposition of the Albion Ferry vessels.

July 14, 2009

Governance
Committee

•

Inclusion of a directors’ external communications policy in the Board Governance Manual
recommended to the Board for approval.
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Date

Type

Outcomes

July 14, 2009

Human Resources and
Compensation
Committee

•

Discussed results of CEO 360o review.

July 15, 2009

Audit Committee

•
•
•
•

Approved amendments to the Transit Tariff and Procurement Policy recommended to the Board.
Adopted a new Golden Ears Bridge Toll Assessment Bylaw recommended to the board.
Established a secondary banking relationship recommended to the board.
Property acquisition and expropriation recommended to the board.

July 15, 2009

Major Capital Projects
Committee

•

Discussion on the status of major capital projects including transportation plans for the 2010
Olympic Games.

July 16, 2009

Board of Directors

•
•
•
•
•
•

Amendments to the Transit Tariff approved.
Golden Ears Bridge Toll Assessment Bylaw approved.
Sustainability Policy approved.
Establishment of a secondary banking relationship approved.
Inclusion of a directors’ external communications policy in the Board Governance Manual
approved.
Approved amendments to the Procurement Policy.

July 29, 2009

Board of Directors

•

Approved the 2010 10‐Year Transportation and Financial Plans.

October 7, 2009

Major Capital Projects
Committee

•

Discussion on the status of major capital projects including transportation plans for the 2010
Olympic Games.

October 7, 2009

Audit Committee

•
•

Revised investment policy recommended for approval by the board.
Establishment of investment trading accounts recommended to the board.

October 8, 2009

Human Resources and
Compensation
Committee

•

Discussion on succession planning framework and compensation matters.

October 8, 2009

Governance
Committee

•

Form of questionnaire and timing for the Board Effectiveness Evaluation approved.
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October 9, 2009

Board of Directors

•
•

March, 2010

•
•
•

New Major Road Network Bylaw approved.
Board Chair designated as the shareholders’ proxy to sign a consent resolution appointing two
directors to Canada Line Rapid Transit Inc.
Granted exemption from Power Levy.
Investment Policy approved.
Establishment of investment trading accounts authorized.

October 28, 2009

Board of Directors

•
•

Motor Fuel Tax Bylaw approved.
Parking Sales Tax Bylaw approved.

November 12, 2009

Board of Directors

•

Accepted resignation of Thomas Prendergast from the position of Chief Executive Officer,
effective November 30, 2009.

November 18, 2009

Audit Committee

•

Approved terms and conditions for short term borrowing from the Municipal Finance Authority.

November 19, 2009

Board of Directors

•

Ian Jarvis appointed as Interim Chief Executive Officer, effective December 1, 2009.

December 2, 2009

Major Capital Projects
Committee

•

Discussion on the status of major capital projects including transportation plans for the 2010
Olympic Games.

December 3, 2009

Audit Committee

•

2010 Budget and Business Plan Summary and 2010 Capital Program recommended for approval
by the Board.

December 3, 2009

Human Resources and
Compensation
Committee

•

Approval of various compensation matters recommended to the Board.
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December 4, 2009

Board of Directors

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

March, 2010

Golden Ears Bridge Toll Assessment Bylaw amended.
Adopted new Transit Advertising Policy.
Approved the operation of the City of Vancouver 2010 Demonstration Streetcar Service.
Appointed new director to the Canada Line Rapid Transit Board of Directors.
Granted exemption from Power Levy.
Approved the 2010 Budget and Business Plan Summary.
Approved the 2010 Capital Program.
Capital Approval for Smart Card and FareGate Project approved.
Members of the Audit, Governance, Human Resources and Compensation and Major Capital
Projects committees appointed.
Reconfirmed appointment of Dale Parker as Board Chair.
Compensation matters approved.
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